DISSERTATIONES CHIMICAE UNIVERSITATIS TARTUENSIS 108

DISSERTATIONES CHIMICAE UNIVERSITATIS TARTUENSIS
108

DANA MARTIN

The QSPR/QSAR approach for the prediction of properties of fullerene derivatives



TARTU UNIVERSITY PRESS

Institute of Chemistry, University of Tartu, Estonia

Dissertation is accepted for the commencement of the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Chemistry on June 28th, 2011 by the Doctoral Committee of the Departement of Chemistry, University of Tartu

Supervisor:	Prof. Mati Karelson, University of Tartu
Opponent:	Prof. Mart Saarma, Institute of Biotechnology, University of Helsinki, Finland

Commencement: August 29, 2011 at 14A Ravila Str., room 1021, 14:00 h

ISSN 1406–0299 ISBN 978–9949–19–806–1 (trükis) ISBN 978–9949–19–807–8 (PDF)

Autoriõigus: Dana Martin, 2011

Tartu Ülikooli Kirjastus www.tyk.ee Tellimus nr. 467

to my mother

CONTENTS

LIST OF ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS	8
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS	9
INTRODUCTION	11
 LITERATURE OVERVIEW Properties of interest for carbon nanostructures	13 13 14
 1.3.1. Ab initio calculations 	17 18
1.3.2. QSAR Methodology 1.3.2.1. Descriptors used to calculate the properties of carbon nanostructures	18 20
1.3.2.2. Multivariate linear regression models1.3.2.3. Model validation for nanostructures	21 22
2. SUMMARY OF ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS	24
Fullerene in 1-Octanol and n-Heptane 2.2. QSPR Modeling of the Polarizability of Polyaromatic	24
2.3. QSAR for Predicting HIV Protease Inhibition by Substituted	25
2.4. QSAR for Describing the Inhibition of β Amyloid Fibril Formation	27 28
3. CONCLUSIONS	31
REFERENCES	32
SUMMARY IN ESTONIAN	41
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	42
PUBLICATIONS	43

LIST OF ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS

The present thesis consists of four articles listed bellow. All papers are denoted in the text by roman numerals I–IV.

- I. Martin, Dana; Maran, Uko; Sild, Sulev; Karelson, Mati. QSPR Modeling of Solubility of Polyaromatic Hydrocarbons and Fullerene in 1-Octanol and *n*-Heptane. J. Phys. Chem. B 2007, 111, 9853–9857.
- II. Martin, Dana; Sild, Sulev; Maran, Uko; Karelson, Mati. QSPR Modeling of the Polarizability of Polyaromatic Hydrocarbons and Fullerenes. J. Phys. Chem. C 2008, 112, 4785–4790.
- III. Martin, Dana; Karelson, Mati. The Quantitative Structure Activity Relationships for Predicting HIV Protease Inhibition by Substituted Fullerenes. Lett. Drug Des. Discov. 2010, 7, 587–595.
- IV. Martin, Dana; Karelson, Mati. Quantitative Structure Activity Relationship for Describing the Inhibition of the β Amyloid Fibril Formation, *Lett. Drug Des. Discov.* submitted.

Author's contribution

Publications I, II, III, IV: The author is responsible for the data sets, calculations, interpretation of the results and preparation of the manuscripts.

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

2D,3D	two, three dimensional
Αβ	β-amyloid peptide
AIDS	Aquired Immune Deficiency Syndrome
AM1	Austin Model 1
ANN	Artificial Neuronal Networks
APP	Amyloid Precursor Protein
BMLR	Best Multiple Linear Regression
CNT	Carbon Nanotubes
CODESSA	Comprehensive Descriptors for Structural and Statistical
	Analysis
CoMFA	Comparative Molecular Field Analysis
CoMSIA	Comparative Molecular Similarity Index Analysis
DFT	Density Functional Theory
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
EC50	effective concentration at 50% value
F	Fisher criterion
fAβ	β-amyloid fibril
HIV	Human Immunodeficiency Virus
LOO	leave one out
LMO	leave many out
LSSVM	Least-Squares Support Vector Machine
MC	Monte Carlo
MD	Molecular Dynamics
n	refraction index
Ν	number of particles per volume
NLO	Nonlinear Optical devices
PAH	Polyaromatic Hydrocarbons
PCA	Principal Component Analysis
PLS	Partial Least Squares
PM3	Parameterized Model number 3
PRESS	Prediction Sum of Squares
R	the correlation coefficient of the regression
\mathbb{R}^2	the coefficient of determination
R^2_{cv}	cross validation coefficient of the determination
REACH	Registration, Evaluation, Authorization and Restriction of
	Chemicals
RMSPE	the root-mean-square prediction error
RNA	Ribonucleic acid
S	the standard error of the multiple linear regression
s ₀	the normalized standard error
SCAP	Solvent-dependent Conformational Analysis Program
sPRESS	Standardized Prediction Sum of Squares
STM	Scanning Tunneling Microscopy

SVM	Support Vector Machine
SWCNT	Single Wall Carbon Nanotubes
t	Student's test
QSAR	Quantitative Structure-Activity Relationship
QSPR	Quantitative Structure-Property Relationship
QSARModel	Quantitative Structure-Activity Relationship Model
σ	polarizability
γ	hyperpolarizability

INTRODUCTION

The discovery of fullerene by Kroto et al.¹ and of the carbon nanotubes (CNT) by Iijima et al.,^{2, 3} extended the number of known forms of carbon allotropes. The shapes of some of these new compounds resemble geodesic domes, which were made popular by the well known architect Richard Buckminster Fuller and the naming of these new allotropic forms of carbon after the architect's name was a tribute to his visionary view.

Further experimental and theoretical studies revealed more or less stable forms of spherical fullerenes,^{4,5,6} carbon structures doped with B, N,^{7,8} spherical fullerenes including metallic atoms⁹ or structures similar to fullerenes and carbon nanotubes made entirely of B and N.^{10,11}

All the above mentioned carbon structures have at least one dimension less than 100 nm and thus can be classified as nano compounds. The interest in nanomaterials is due to the fact that the properties stemming from the nano dimension can be quite different in comparison to those of the same material as bulk.

Nanomaterials have special mechanical, magnetical, electrical, optical and chemical properties and due to these properties are increasingly used as semiconductors, microelectronic devices, catalysts, cosmetic agents and medical substances for diagnosis, imaging and drug carrier.

The drawback of carbon nanostructures is that they can have adverse effects on human and animal health and are a matter of concern regarding environmental protection. Some nanostructures like C_{60} proved to be rather harmless,¹² while others like carbon nanotubes have an effect similar with asbestos on human health.¹³ The Polyaromatic Hydrocarbons (PAH) which are the precursors of many larger carbon nanostructures are very toxic substances.¹⁴ The toxicity and environmental pollution associated with carbon nanostructures are related to their solubility in water¹⁵ and in solvents similar to body fluids,¹⁶ a fact that makes the study of carbon nanostructure solvation a field of major interest.

As in the case of other substances the production, manipulation and use of carbon nanostructures should follow the EU legislation concerning: Safety at Workplace Directives,¹⁷ The Directive on the Integrated Pollution Prevention and Control,¹⁸ Waste Management Directives¹⁹ and The European Regulation on the Registration, Authorization and Restriction of Chemicals(REACH).²⁰

Precise determination of the properties of carbon nanostructures may be difficult because some of these compounds are obtained in rather low quantity and the measurement of their properties can be carried out only by sophisticated experimental techniques.^{21,22} An alternative method to determine the property values for nanostructures is to use computational methods.²³

One of the computational techniques extensively used nowadays for obtaining the properties of different compounds is Quantitative Structure Property/ Activity Relationship (QSPR/QSAR) approach. This computational technique enables the building of theoretical models that relate the property of compounds to their structural characteristics. Based on the models developed, the unknown properties of the compounds can be deduced from their molecular structure. Numerous computational programs for predicting properties that are missing for different substances have been developed based on QSPR/QSAR.

The purpose of the present thesis is to explore the applicability of QSPR/QSAR methodology for predicting properties of some carbon nanostructures, specifically the fullerene and its derivatives. Within this aim, computational models for predicting different physico-chemical and biological properties have been developed. These models enable the interpretation of the dependence of the particular properties on the structure of compounds through specific theoretical molecular descriptors. In Chapter I, the modeled properties and the methodology employed for modeling are overviewed. Chapter II presents the results obtained in modeling specific properties: solubility of PAH and fullerene in n-heptane and 1-octanol, polarizability of PAH and fullerenes, inhibition of HIV protease by different substituted fullerenes and the inhibition of amyloid fibril formation.

I. LITERATURE OVERVIEW

I.I. Properties of interest for carbon nanostructures

The discovery of new allotropic forms of C triggered an increased interest in their physical, chemical, biological properties and in possible practical applications based on these new compounds.

The special mechanical, electrical, optical and reactivity properties of the carbon nanostructures are due to the presence of the extended π electrons systems. This particular structure involving multiple π electrons induces the spherical aromaticity in the case of fullerenes²⁴ and is the source of the aromaticity induced special electronic properties of carbon nanotubes.²⁵

Carbon nanotubes show high stiffness and axial strength as reflected by a high Young's modulus (\sim 1 TPa),²⁶ and at the same time they have low density, which makes them suitable for the fabrication of strong, lightweight composite materials.²⁷

According to the diameter and the helicity of carbon nanotubes these can be semiconducting or metallic,^{28,29} which make them interesting compounds for nanosize electronic devices like transistors.³⁰ Another exceptional electronic property of carbon nanotubes is their ability to support ballistic electron transport.^{31,32} Studies of fullerene C₆₀ doped with K atoms revealed super-conductivity at a temperature of 18K, which is among the highest observed for a molecular superconductor.³³

Due to their extended π electron systems carbon nanostructures also find applications as materials for Nonlinear Optical Devices (NLO). The phenomenon behind NLO devices is the photorefractive effect described by the spatial modulation of the refractive index. The behavior of refractive index is controlled by the polarizability (σ) and the second-order hyperpolarizability (γ) which renders these properties important to be measured in the case of carbon nanostructures used as compounds for NLO devices.^{34,35}

The discovery of the Bingel reaction³⁶ allowed the introduction of pendant arms to the sphere of fullerene thus modifying many of the fullerene properties and inducing new potential technological and biological applications.³⁷As in the case of fullerenes, CNT can also be side-wall derivatized by different reactions⁶ rendering them thus more appropriate for different applications.³⁸

One of the most studied biological applications of fullerene is their ability to inhibit different types of enzymes. Enzymes have a crucial role in organisms from viruses to mammals and their inhibition can cure a wide range of diseases from viral infections to cancers. Substituted fullerenes proved effective inhibitors of enzymes like: HIV protease,^{39,40} HIV reverse transcriptase and Hepatitis C RNA polymerase,⁴¹ carbon anhydrase,⁴² acetyl cholinesterase,⁴³ and neuronal nitric oxide synthase.⁴⁴

When exposed to light, fullerenic compounds produce singlet O species ⁴⁵ with cytotoxic effect on cells.^{46,47} This reactive O induced cytotoxicity could have practical applications in treating different forms of cancers by destroying

abnormal cells. However O reactive species can also have undesirable side effects on healthy cells like: DNA cleavage,⁴⁸ mutagenicity,⁴⁹ genotoxicity⁵⁰ or hemolytic effects.⁵¹ On the other hand, the fullerols that are polyhydroxylated fullerens have been shown to be effective as free radical scavengers⁵² and can be used to treat ischemic, neuronal and rheumatoid degenerative diseases which are due to overproduction of free radicals in the tissue.

Fullerene derivatives also have bactericidal effects^{53–59} because of their capacity to intercalate in the biological membrane of different sorts of bacteria and to disrupt the bacteria cell's wall thus causing the microorganism's death.

The 1,2-(dimethoxymethano)fullerene proved to be an efficient compound for preventing the aggregation of β -amyloid peptide thus being a potential drug for Alzheimers' disease treatment.⁶⁰

Endohedral fullerenes⁶¹ which are the fullerenes with metal ions trapped inside the fullerene cage proved to be effective tools in medical diagnosis as MRI agents.⁶² Highly-iodinated C_{60} molecules are good contrast agents for X-ray imaging⁶³ having a lower toxicity than other commercially available X-ray agents.

I.2. Properties studied in the present thesis

Solubility of carbon nanostructures

Solubility is a fundamental property for all chemical compounds mainly because most reactions and biological processes take place in solution. For carbon nanostructures solubility is important in fields like: separation of carbon nanostructures after synthesis, synthesis of substituted carbon nanostructures, environmental protection and bioavailability of compounds.

In comparison with other allotropic forms of carbon, like diamond and graphite, which are not soluble in any solvents, fullerenes can be dissolved at room temperature mostly in aromatic solvents. Further studies of C_{60} dissolved in a variety of solvents confirmed the fact that "like dissolves like" and that the most important parameters in evaluating the capacity of a solvent to dissolve C_{60} are: the solvent's polarity, polarizability, molecular size and Hildebrand solubility parameter.⁶⁴

The unsubstituted fullerene is insoluble in water, the maximum concentration that can be achieved as a hydrated fullerene is 4mg/mL.⁶⁵ The hydrated fullerene C₆₀(H₂O)₂₄ consists of the C₆₀ cage surrounded by 24 water molecules, which act for the fullerene cage as electron donors through the O atoms, and constitute the first hydration shell.

Carbon nanostructures have many potential applications in medicine which are conditioned by their solubility in body fluids. Thus one field of major interest is the functionalization of carbon nanostructures with pendant arms that will render them soluble in different solvents. The functionalization of C_{60} , resulting in a dendrimeric fullerene derivative bearing 18 carboxylic groups can significantly improve its solubility in water up to 34mg/mL at pH=7.4.⁶⁶

The Single Wall Carbon Nanotubes (SWCNT) also have potential applications in medicine but the major problem is their insolubility in all solvents. The covalent functionalization of SWCNT⁶ is not always as successful as in the case of fullerenes, sometimes the band electronic structure is disrupted by these modifications or even the full structure of SWCNT is damaged.⁶⁷ The dissolution in water of the SWCNT is achieved by using polymers and surfactants.⁶⁸

The solubility of PAH with a small number of cycles is well studied due to the importance of these compounds in many industrial processes like the production of dyes and drugs. On the other hand the PAH with a large number of cycles are not readily available for analysis, these compounds being obtained mostly in small quantities in combustion processes. The PAH are very toxic compounds and their solubility in water has been studied^{69,70} as mostly related to issues like human health and environmental protection.

In the present thesis, the QSPR approach has been applied for modeling the solubility of C_{60} and carbon nanostructures' precursors, the polyaromatic hydrocarbons (PAH), in two solvents – the n-heptane and 1-octanol.

Polarizability

The increasing number of applications based on nonlinear optical (NLO) effects in fields like telecommunications, computer storage devices and optical devices triggered the necessity to measure and compute as precisely as possible the properties on which the NLO effects depend, the refractive index and implicitly the polarizability and hyperpolarizability of different compounds used in NLO devices.

The electric polarizability reflects the ease of distortion of the electron cloud of a molecular entity by an electric field (such as that due to the proximity of a charged reagent). As defined in the dictionary, the electrical polarizability is "the electrical dipole moment induced in a system such as an atom or molecule, by the electric field of unit strength".⁷¹

Richard Feyman⁷² modified the Clausius-Mosotti equation to adapt it for bulk materials thus establishing the relationship between polarizability and the refraction index:

$$N\alpha = 3\frac{n^2 - 1}{n^2 + 2}$$
(1)

where N is the number of particle per unit volume, α is the atomic polarizability and n is the refractive index.

Polarizability consists on isotropic and anisotropic components.⁷³ The isotropic part of the molecular polarizability is mostly an additive quantity that can be calculated by summation of individual polarizability of atoms or bonds of a certain molecule. The anisotropic polarizability is mostly due to the fact that atoms are not isolated in molecules and their electronic distribution is influenced by the chemical neighborhood. The polarizability, especially its

anisotropy is important in many ligand-receptor, enzyme-substrate and other biological interactions.^{74–76}

Encompassed in the thesis is a QSPR model for polarizability of a set of fullerene and PAH compounds.

HIV protease inhibition

Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndrome (AIDS) is a disease caused by the human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) and it has as effect the collapsing of the human immune system. The failure of the immune system leaves the organism pray to the opportunistic infections which otherwise wouldn't have been dangerous.

The most important step in the cure of AIDS is preventing the HIV virus from reproducing itself and also to inhibit the viruses already present in the infected organisms. Up to now a large number of compounds have been tested to inhibit the virus in different stages of its development.⁷⁷ There are inhibitors for practically every phase of virus' life cycle: adsorption, fusion, uncoating, reverse transcription, integration, replication, transcription, translocation, maturation and budding.⁷⁸

One successful method of reducing the amount of HIV viruses in infected organisms is to inhibit the respective aspartyl protease, which has the role of producing the HIV structural proteins called gag and implicitly determines the production of HIV mature virions. The HIV protease inhibitors bind specifically to the active catalytic site where they remain stuck thus blocking the enzyme. There are several protease inhibitors approved as drugs: Saquinavir, Indinavir, Amprenavir, Fosamprenavir, Tipranavir, Darunavir.

Fullerene C_{60} is an interesting molecule for blocking the HIV protease⁷⁹ due to its size of around 10 Å which is similar to the inside diameter of the protease channel. Another reason for the C_{60} efficacy against HIV protease is its hydrophobicity which makes it compatible with the hydrophobic amino acids that line the protease channel. To increase the efficiency of the C_{60} fullerene in inhibiting the protease all sort of pendant arms, which react with the catalytic site, have been added.^{80,81} Actually such a substituted fullerene named Fulevir, which is the sodium salt of fullerene-polyhydropolyamino-caproic acid is currently used clinically for the treatment of HIV infection.⁸²

Included in the present work is a QSAR approach for predicting the activity of substituted fullerenes in inhibiting the HIV protease.

B-Amyloid peptides aggregation inhibition

Alzheimer's disease that mostly affects the elderly population is characterized by dementia and at the physiological level by cerebral atrophy and loss of synapses and neurons.⁸³ One of the main causes of Alzheimer's disease is the overproduction of β -amyloid peptides (A β s) and their deposition in the brain as amyloid extracellular plaque⁸⁴ thus damaging the neuronal cells.

The main A β s that result from cleaving the amyloid protein precursor (APP) are A β (1–40) and A β (1–42).⁸⁵ The two A β s have almost identical amino acid

sequence but differ in which concerns the aggregation behavior, with A β (1–42) deposing faster and thus having increased neurotoxicity.⁸⁶

The potential strategies for the treatment for Alzheimer's diseases include blocking the enzymes that cleave the APP⁸⁷ or anti aggregation agents against amyloid fibril (fA β) formation.^{88,89} Many different types of molecules have been experimentally tested as anti amyloid aggregation agents.^{60,90–100}

Included in the present thesis is a QSAR approach for evaluating the inhibition power of different compounds against $A\beta s$ aggregation.

1.3. Computational approaches used for predicting the properties of carbon nanostructures

The techniques mostly used to compute the properties of carbon nanostructures include: quantum chemistry, force field methods and molecular dynamic simulations. The preferred technique depends on the size of carbon nano-structure: for compounds with up to several hundred atoms, simplified quantum mechanical based techniques like Density Functional Theory (DFT) are used, while in the case of nanostructures with thousands of atoms, statistical mechanics based methods are applied. Most computations in the field of carbon nanostructures are made for the prediction of the physical properties (mechanical, optical, electrical and magnetic) while calculations of biological activities and toxicities are less numerous.

The mechanical and electronic properties of carbon nanotubes have proved important from the technological point of view. That raised the interest in developing a variety of techniques for predicting the properties of these structures. The thermo-mechanical and transport properties of carbon nanotubes have been modeled by computational techniques like molecular dynamics (MD), Monte Carlo (MC) simulation and *ab initio* quantum chemical methods.^{101,102} Before it was proved experimentally by Scanning Tunneling Microscopy (STM) that CNT can be metallic or semiconductors,¹⁰³ their electrical properties were predicted by using first-principle, self-consistent, all-electron Gaussian-orbital based local-density-functional approach^{104,105} and tight-binding band-structure calculations.¹⁰⁶ Also the ballistic conductance in carbon nanotubes was anticipated by using a tight-binding model.¹⁰⁷

Different computational techniques like the finite field approach with PM-3 parametrization,¹⁰⁸ atom monopole-dipole interaction models,^{109,110} time-dependent density-functional theory,¹¹¹ point-dipole interaction model¹¹² have been used to compute polarizability and hyperpolarizability. These computational methods proved to be a good alternative to the experimental techniques in determining polarizability and hyperpolarizability, properties that indicate how suitable different carbon nanostructures are for NLO devices.

Computational tools proved also useful in evaluating and predicting the biological properties of substituted fullerenes. Docking is a valuable technique showing its utility in evaluating the potential of substituted fullerenes to inhibit enzymes like HIV protease⁷⁹ and mammalian carbon anhydrase.⁴² 3D QSAR techniques like Comparative Molecular Field Analysis (CoMFA) and Comparative Molecular Similarity Index Analysis (CoMSIA) have also been employed for proposing a series of C_{60} fullerene-based inhibitors of HIV protease.^{113,114} Theoretical studies revealed the relationship between cytotoxic and hemolytic properties of water-soluble fullerene C_{60} derivatives and the hydrophilic and hydrophobic areas of these compounds.⁵¹ A structure-activity study on six different carboxyfullerene superoxide dismutase (SOD) mimetics also showed that the neuroprotection efficacy depends on the number and the symmetry of distribution of the carboxylic groups attached to the fullerenic cage.¹¹⁵

The modeling of the solubility of carbon nanostructures in different solvents has been made by QSPR modelling,¹¹⁶ Thomas and Eckert dilution model,¹¹⁷ least-squares support vector machine (LSSVM),¹¹⁸ multivariate stepwise linear regression applied as a linear solvation energy approach¹¹⁹ and solvent-dependent conformational analysis program (SCAP).¹²⁰

In the present thesis, two computational techniques have been used for modeling the properties of carbon nanostructures: QSPR/QSAR approach and *ab initio* quantum chemistry. The *ab initio* technique was used to generate the database on the polarizability for the fullerenes and PAHs used further for QSPR modeling. The QSPR/QSAR modeling was employed to generate useful models for the solubility of PAH and C₆₀ in two solvents: n-heptane and 1-octanol, for the polarizability of PAH and fullerenes, for the HIV protease inhibition by a series of substituted fullerenes and for the β -amyloid peptides aggregation inhibition.

I.3.I. Ab initio calculations

Many carbon nanostructures are rather large compounds, containing sometimes even thousands of atoms, which make the use of *ab initio* calculation for these structures a computationally highly expensive technique.

An alternative to *ab initio* Hartree-Fock theory with many-electron wavefunctions is the use of Density Functional Theory $(DFT)^{121}$ which is a simplified quantum chemistry method based on functionals of spatially dependent electron density. In the article (II) DFT techniques with B3LYP functional,¹²² 6–31G* ¹²³ and 6–311G(d)¹²⁴ basis sets were used to calculate the polarizabilities of PAH and fullerenes included in the training and test sets of compounds. The calculations were carried out with the Gaussian03¹²⁵ program and consisted of the optimization of molecular geometries using 6–31G* basis set and calculation of polarizabilities with 6–311G(d) basis set.

1.3.2. QSAR Methodology

The basic idea behind the QSPR/QSAR is that there is a relationship between the chemical structure of an organic compound and its bio-physical-chemical properties. In what follows we will make a short overview of the QSPR/QSAR flow, with emphasis on the special problems encountered when modeling the properties of carbon nanostructures by this computational technique.

The QSPR/QSAR methodology has three well defined steps, irrespective of the property that is being modeled: data preparation, data analysis and model validation. Each of these main steps can be further subdivided as can be seen in the table bellow:

Main step	Sub steps
	Collection of the property data to be modeled
	Preparation of the molecular structures for
Data preparation	QSPR/QSAR studies
	Collection of experimental descriptors
	Calculation of theoretical descriptors
	Selection of the QSPR/QSAR statistical analysis and
Data analysis	correlation method
	Development of QSPR/QSAR model
	Interpretation of the model
Model validation	Model validation
	Prediction of the property of interest

The physical, chemical or biological property that is modeled should have a suitable database of experimentally measured values of good quality. The quality of experimental data is crucial for obtaining reliable and robust models. For this reason, compounds with known large experimental errors in property values should be discarded from the set of data. Ideally, the experiments for determining the property values should be made by standardized methods in the same laboratory. Often, the property values are logarithmically transformed for QSPR/QSAR modeling purposes. In the case of carbon nanostructures, the experimental data are rather scarce and the property values from different laboratories that used similar experimental methods need to be collected. Thus, a special attention has to be paid to experimental protocols to avoid pitfalls due to poor data.¹²⁶

The 2D or 3D structures of the compounds needed for the calculation of molecular descriptors and in QSAR/QSPR model development can be drawn using software like MDL ISIS Draw,¹²⁷ Chem Draw,¹²⁸ or in the case of more complicated compounds like fullerenes and carbon nanotubes, structures can be downloaded from internet sites¹²⁹ or generated using special programs.¹³⁰ For obtaining the values of 3D theoretical descriptors, the structures should be prepared by energy minimization using quantum-chemical programs (e.g. MOPAC¹³¹). A commonly used molecular geometry optimization methods in QSPR/QSAR are the semi-empirical quantum chemistry methods with different parameterization like AM1¹³² and PM3.¹³³ Based on the molecular structures with

optimized geometrical parameters, the descriptors can be calculated using many different programs (e.g. CODESSA,¹³⁴ CODESSA Pro,¹³⁵ QSARModel,¹³⁶ and DRAGON¹³⁷).

The computational methodologies developed for building the QSPR/QSAR models that relate the theoretical descriptors to the experimental properties, can be classified as linear and nonlinear. Among the linear computational techniques, Multilinear Regression,¹³⁸ Partial Least Squares (PLS)¹³⁹ and Principal Component Analysis (PCA)¹⁴⁰ are the most widespread. The nonlinear relationship between property and descriptors can be built using techniques such as Artificial Neuronal Networks (ANN)¹⁴¹ and the Support Vector Machine (SVM).¹⁴² In the present thesis, multilinear regression techniques the Best Multiple Linear Regression (BMLR)¹³⁸ and Heuristic¹⁴³ implemented in CODESSA¹³⁴ and QSAR-Model¹³⁶ were used.

A good QSPR/QSAR model is interpretable and includes optimal number of descriptors that provide satisfactory explanation for the variance of the experimental data, accompanied with good quality statistical parameters.¹⁴⁴ Another necessary characteristic of a good model is the ability of the descriptors of the model to reflect adequately the mechanism that governs the physical, chemical or biological property that has been modeled.

The usefulness of the model is related to its reliability and predictive power. The reliability of a model is estimated by internal or external validation procedures. The validation with an external test set is more reliable than the internal validation, but is not always applicable. For instance, in the case of carbon nanostructures, it is limited due to the small datasets available for these compounds. The model developed should also have good predictive power,¹⁴⁵ which means that the values of the property obtained with the model based on the structure of the molecule, should be as close as possible to the experimentally measured property of that compound. The QSPR/QSAR models should be associated with a defined domain of applicability which means that they are generally applicable to congeneric compounds and are able to make reliable predictions only within the structural and physicochemical domain that is known from the training set.

1.3.2.1. Descriptors used to calculate the properties of carbon nanostructures

Molecular descriptors are numerical values that characterize properties of molecules and they are used as independent variables in QSPR/QSAR models. The descriptors can be empirical or theoretical. Empirical descriptors are various experimentally measured properties while theoretical descriptors are calculated by some algorithm.

The experimentally measurable properties of carbon nanostructures that can be used as descriptors include: the nanoparticle's size and size distribution, surface area, shape, surface functionalization and surface charge, redox potential, porosity, water solubility and lipophilicity. The water solubility and lipophilicity are properties that are rather difficult to measure experimentally and often the theoretically calculated water/octanol partition coefficient logP¹⁴⁶ is used as a more accessible alternative.

For the calculation of theoretical descriptors, the only prerequisite is the chemical structure of the compound. The CODESSA¹³⁴ and QSARModel¹³⁶ programs have been used to calculate the theoretical descriptors used in the present thesis. When a certain part of the molecules is invariable in the data set, which is the case of the substituted fullerenes, theoretical descriptors for variable fragments of the compound can be calculated and used to build QSAR/QSPR models. For the fullerenes, their PAH precursors and the substituted fullerenes the following theoretical descriptors have been calculated: constitutional, topological, geometrical, electrostatic, quantum chemical and thermodynamic.¹⁴⁷ The calculation of constitutional descriptors is based on molecular formula and they describe features like the number of specific atoms and atomic groups in molecule and molecular weight. Topological descriptors are calculated using graph theory and reflect the connectivity and the branching of a molecule. Geometrical descriptors describe characteristics related to the size, volume, surface and shape of a molecule. The electrostatic descriptors reflect the charge distribution in a molecule and include the properties like polarity and polarizability. The quantum chemical descriptors give information about the energy of a molecule and the molecule's ability to participate in chemical reactions, polar or hydrogen bonding interactions. The thermodynamic descriptors are calculated based on the total partition function of the molecule and its electronic, translational, rotational and vibrational components.

Many topological descriptors like the distance matrix, the resistance-distance matrix, the corresponding distance-related and resistance-distance-related descriptors (Wiener index, Balaban indices, Kirchhoff index, Wiener-sum index, Kirchhoff-sum index)¹⁴⁸ and the Cahn-Ingold-Prelog configurational descriptors¹⁴⁹ have been previously calculated for fullerenes. A problem that could appear in calculating topological descriptors like local softness and hardness have also been previously calculated and served as descriptors determining the regioselectivity of fullerenes towards the nucleophilic attack.¹⁵¹ The geometrical descriptors calculated for substituted fullerenes like the hydrophilic and hydrophobic areas⁵¹ have been used to evaluate the cytotoxic and hemolytic properties of the water-soluble fullerene C₆₀ derivatives. For large structures like carbon nanotubes the computation of descriptors requires extended calculations, even for topological descriptors like the Wiener index.^{152,153}

I.3.2.2. Multivariate linear regression models

In building QSPR/QSAR models, the multiparameter linear regression method establishes a correlation between the *dependent* variable which is the property of a series of compounds and the *independent* variables which are the theoretical or experimental descriptors. The quality of the regression is reflected by the numerical values of several statistical parameters including the correla-

tion coefficient of the regression (R), the coefficient of determination (R^2), the standard error of the multiple linear regression (s), the normalized standard error (s₀), Fisher criterion (F), Student's test (t), cross validation coefficient of the determination (R^2_{cv}), prediction sum of squares (PRESS) and root-mean-square prediction error (RMSPE)¹⁴⁷. In the present thesis, the Heuristic and BMLR regression techniques have been used in building models for the properties of carbon nanostructures.

The Heuristic method consists of several steps: i) selection of the descriptors with available values and good variability of the values; ii) building of onedescriptor equations with previously selected descriptors and selection of the best equations accordingly to F, R^2_{min} , t and descriptor intercorrelation criteria; iii) arranging of the selected one-descriptor equations in increasing order of the correlation coefficient and building of two-descriptor equations by adding descriptors that are not already in the equation, meanwhile taking into account that the descriptors in the model should have a low inter- correlation; iv) selection of the best two-descriptors already present in the equation until the resulting correlation has a F value above the F value of previous equation and the number of the descriptors in the equation is under an acceptable established limit.

The BMLR method includes the following steps: i) finding all orthogonal pairs of descriptors in a given dataset; ii) building two-descriptor models with the orthogonal pairs of descriptors previously found and selecting those equations that have high correlation coefficient; iii) to the previously developed two-descriptors equations non-colinear descriptors are added, as long as it leads to an improvement of F otherwise the procedure is stopped and the best equations according to the coefficient of determination are obtained; iv) additional descriptors are added to the previously obtained three-descriptor equations until the additional descriptors cease to bring an improvement of F. Thereafter the procedure is stopped and the best equations until the additional descriptors cease to bring an improvement of R², R²_{cv} and F are obtained.

1.3.2.3. Model validation for nanostructures

The reliability and statistical relevance of the QSPR/QSAR models developed should be examined by validation procedures. The QSPR/QSAR methodology makes use of two validation methods, called external and internal validation.^{154,155}

The external validation can be applied as an assessment of the quality of the QSPR/QSAR models when the dataset of the property is large enough to be divided into training and test sets. The QSPR/QSAR model is built based on the training set, while the test set is used to compare the results predicted with the developed QSPR/QSAR model and the experimental values. Unfortunately, in the case of carbon nanostructures the datasets have relatively few experimental values and thus it is not always possible to apply the external validation method.

In the case of smaller datasets, dividing the compounds in training and test datasets reduces the structural diversity of compounds in the training set and makes the model more biased and with lower predictive power.

The internal validation is more suitable for validating the datasets with a small number of experimental values. For maximizing the structural motifs of such small datasets all the molecules can be used to build the model and the validation can be made by procedures like Leave One Out (LOO) and Leave Many Out (LMO). In the case of LMO the training set is divided into equal-sized groups containing m elements. Each group is omitted in turn from the data and the model is fitted with the remaining groups that together contain n

elements. The omitted property values y_i are calculated with the fitted model and the quality of the model is given by the R² of the correlation between the initial property values y_i and those predicted with the model y_i . The predicted property values y_i can also be used for calculating two other validation criteria, the prediction sum of squares (*PRESS*) and the standardized prediction sum of squares (*sPRESS*)(see eq. (2) and (3)).¹⁵⁶

$$PRESS = \sum_{i=n+1}^{n+m} (y_i - y_i)^2$$
(2)

$$sPRESS = \frac{PRESS}{\sum_{i=n+1}^{n+m} (y_i - y_i)^2}$$
, where $\bar{y} = \frac{1}{m} \sum_{n=1}^{n+m} y_i$ (3)

LOO is a special case of LMO in which each of the training subsets contain all the available values but one. However even if LOO is one of the most popular internal validation criteria, a high value for R^2_{LOO} is not always a proof of the high predictive ability of the model,¹⁵⁷ and additional statistical criteria like *PRESS*, *sPRESS* should be used for assessing the quality of the model.

2. SUMMARY OF ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS

2.1. QSPR Modeling of Solubility of Polyaromatic Hydrocarbons and Fullerene in I-Octanol and n-Heptane

Many polyaromatic hydrocarbons (PAH) are useful technical compounds and precursors in the fabrication of carbon nanostructures (fullerenes and carbon nanotubes); as a side effect, they also appear as byproducts in combustion processes. Most chemical syntheses and separation processes involving PAH and nanostructures take place in liquid media, rendering the solubility of these compounds in different solvents a very important technical problem. Both PAH and nanostructures have significant toxicity and carcinogenic potential, which makes their impact upon the environment and health a reason of concern, thus justifying studies of solubility in water and solvents similar to tissue fluids. Most of the PAH and carbon nanostructures solubility studies express the solubility of a single solute in a series of solvents as being correlated to the structural properties of the solvents. To our knowledge, to the date of publication of the present article there were no models made for a series of PAH and carbon nanostructures in the same solvent, maybe because of the difficulties of finding solubility data for many PAH and carbon nanostructures made at the same temperature in the same solvent. The present study aims to define the solubility of a series of PAH and carbon nanostructure in the same solvent, as a (multi)linear relationship between the solubility and the structural descriptors of the solutes.

Two QSPR models are reported in article (I) that describe the solubility of PAHs and carbon nanostructures (C_{60}) in two different condensed media (n-heptane and 1-octanol).

The experimental solubility data for PAH and fullerene were collected from the IUPAC-NIST database. The 2D-QSAR models were obtained with Heuristic and best multiple linear regression (BMLR) descriptor selection modules implemented in the CODESSA program¹³⁴. For both the solubility in n-heptane (eq. 4) and 1-octanol (eq. 5) three descriptor models were generated:

$$\log S = 3.49(\pm 3.46) + 76.98(\pm 8.11) \cdot RNCG - 9.56(\pm 2.25) \cdot^2 ASIC - 1.18(\pm 0.45) \cdot E_{ee}^{\min}(C - C)$$

$$R^2 = 0.9047, R_{cv}^2 = 0.8378, s^2 = 0.1816, R_{50}^2 = 0.8232, s_{50}^2 = 0.3503, F = 34.79, N = 15, n = 3$$

(4)

$$\log S = 10.45(\pm 1.30) - 8.40 \cdot 10^{-2} (\pm 7.71 \cdot 10^{-3}) \cdot {}^{1}IC - 1.57(\pm 0.16) \cdot E_{ee}^{\min}(C - C) + 0.88(\pm 0.15) \cdot RPCS$$

$$R^{2} = 0.9637, R_{cv}^{2} = 0.9346, s^{2} = 0.0782, R_{50}^{2} = 0.9554, s_{50}^{2} = 0.1008, F = 97.28, N = 15, n = 3$$

The model describing the solubility in n-heptane (eq. (4)) involves three descriptors: Relative negative charge (Zefirov's PC) (*RNCG*), Average structural information content (order 2) (²ASIC) and Min exchange energy for a C-C bond ($E_{ee}^{\min}(C-C)$). The descriptor *RNCG* is defined as the charge of the most negative atom divided by the sum of negative charges and its presence in eq. (4) indicates that compounds with higher localization of the negative partial charges have better solubility in n-heptane. The descriptor ²ASIC is a topological descriptor and shows the influence of the size and compactness of a molecule on its solubility in n-heptane. The descriptor $E_{ee}^{\min}(C-C)$ can be related to the short-range contribution to the interaction energy between solute and solvent molecules and reflects the rather trivial observation that compounds with nonaromatic carbon-carbon bonds in molecule have better solubility in n-heptane.

The descriptors that appear in eq.(5) are: Information content of order $1({}^{I}IC)$, Min exchange energy for a C-C bond $(E_{ee}^{\min}(C-C))$ and Relative positive charged surface area (*RPCS*). The solubility in 1-octanol decreases with the increasing of the dimension of the molecule and its extension along one axis; this size effect is described by the descriptor ${}^{I}IC$. The descriptor *RPCS* is defined as the most positive surface area in a molecule. Compounds that have higher values for *RPCS* descriptor have higher density of positive partial charges interacting more efficiently with the partial negative charge of the – OH group of the solvent thus making the compound more soluble in 1-octanol. The descriptor $E_{ee}^{\min}(C-C)$ features the same solute solvent interaction as in equation (4).

The models made for PAH and fullerene in n-heptane and 1-octanol indicate that the solubility depends on the compound's spatial structure, of the electron distribution in the compounds and the interaction energy between the solute and solvent molecules. Importantly, the solubility of fullerenes in both n-heptane and 1-octanol was robustly predicted by the QSPR models developed for simpler organics.

2.2. QSPR Modeling of the Polarizability of Polyaromatic Hydrocarbons and Fullerenes

Carbon nanostructures like fullerenes, carbon nanotubes (CNT) and their precursors – the polyaromatic hydrocarbons (PAH), exhibit extended π electron systems that make them suitable compounds for nonlinear optical (NLO) applications. The linear polarizability α_{ij} controls the refraction index (n) and the spatial modulation of the refractive index, which is responsible for the photorefractive effect, phenomenon on which NLO devices are based.

The experimental polarizability of fullerenes can be measured for bulk fullerenes by indirect optical and conductivity measurements or for isolated molecules using beam deflection techniques. The techniques used for polarizability measurements in the case of CNT involve laser beams and optical Kerr effect. The polarizability of PAHs is measured by dielectric measurements, optical Kerr effect and NMR studies in solution.

A quick tool for assessing the NLO behavior of compounds is the theoretical calculation of the polarizability. *Ab initio* methods give good results for polarizability calculations but are rather slow for the case of large molecular systems like carbon nanostructures. A more time efficient method for polarizability calculation is based on the finite field approach with PM3 parametrization and MNDO Hamiltonian. Other methods used for the estimation of polarizabilities in the case of fullerenes and PAH are: the "bond polarizability" model, the "charge dipole" model, the "point dipole interaction" model, the "dipole interaction" model and the linear correlation of polarizability with the surface area, effective molecular radius or number of C atoms.

In publication (II), a QSPR model describing the polarizability of PAH and fullerenes is presented. The polarizability of 18 PAH and 30 fullerenes molecules was calculated at *ab initio* DFT level using the B3LYP functional and the 6–311G(d) basis set. The compounds were separated into training and test set. The training set contained compounds for which only theoretical *ab initio* calculated polarizability was available and the test set contained compounds for which the experimental determined polarizability was also available. The 2D-QSPR model for the *ab initio* calculated polarizability was obtained with the Heuristic descriptor selection module implemented in the CODESSA program. The high power predictive model contains only one descriptor 'total molecular two-center exchange energy' ($E_{exc}(tot)$).

$$p = 0.8715(\pm 1.3618) - 0.1290(\pm 0.0024)E_{exc}(tot)$$

$$R^{2} = 0.9863, R_{cv}^{2} = 0.9845, s^{2} = 16.2579, F = 2797.67, N = 40, n = 1$$
(6)

The good predictive power of the model with only one descriptor indicates that the $E_{exc}(tot)$ descriptor accounts for both the isotropic and anisotropic factors that influence the molecular polarizability. While the isotropic factor influencing the polarizability is an additive property and depends on the molecular size, the anisotropic part is largely determined by intramolecular interatomic interactions.

The QSPR model thus obtained was used to predict the polarizability values for the test set. The predicted polarizability values for the test set, with the above model, are in good agreement with the experimental values (R^2 =0.985). The developed QSAR model is a quick tool for estimating the polarizability of PAHs and fullerenes.

2.3. QSAR for Predicting HIV Protease Inhibition by Substituted Fullerenes

The inhibition of the HIV virus by different drugs in different stages of virus development is part of the antiviral treatment that is the main anti HIV therapy nowadays. The HIV aspartyl protease is one of the main targets of this treatment being inhibited by both peptidic and non peptidic drugs. QSAR and 3D QSAR have proved useful tools in developing models for the prediction of the activity of numerous HIV protease inhibition drugs.

Both C_{60} and the inside channel of HIV protease have similar dimensions. This observation induced the idea that substituted fullerenes could be useful drugs in inhibiting HIV protease. The activity of substituted fullerenes against HIV protease has been measured experimentally and estimated by computational techniques like docking, CoMFA and CoMSIA.

The article (III) reports QSAR models to predict the inhibitory power against HIV protease of substituted fullerenes. The models were developed using experimental data EC50 (half maximum effective concentration) and K_i (binding affinity) of 20 substituted fullerenes tested for PBMC cells infected with the HIV-1(LAI) strain. Two approaches were employed in QSAR model development. First the descriptors were calculated for the whole molecule of the substituted fullerenes and BMLR descriptor selection module implemented in the QSARModel¹³⁶ was applied to obtain the best QSAR equations. Within another approach, the descriptors were calculated for fragments of the substituted fullerenes (like fullerene core or substituent arms) and the BMLR and Heuristic descriptors selection modules implemented in CODESSA were used to get the best models.

The best QSAR model (eq. 7) made with descriptors calculated for the full molecule of the substituted fullerenes has good statistical quality.

$$pEC50 = -78.07 + 11.44 \cdot (\varepsilon_{HOMO} - \varepsilon_{LIUMO}) - 52.55 \cdot (HDCA - 2/SQRT) - 31.23 \cdot q_{min}$$
(7)
$$R^{2} = 0.82, R_{cv}^{2} = 0.75, s^{2} = 0.20, F = 23.50, N = 20, n = 3, sPRESS = 0.33$$

The positive sign of the term involving descriptor *HOMO-LUMO energy* $gap(AMI)(\varepsilon_{HOMO} - \varepsilon_{LUMO})$ in this model (7) indicates that the inhibitory power of the substituted fullerenes towards the HIV protease increases with the increased stability of the molecules. The descriptor *HA dependent HDCA-2/SQRT(TMSA)* (*Zefirov*) (*HDCA-2/SQRT*) can be related to the ability of the substituted fullerenes to form hydrogen bonds and to participate in polar interactions. The descriptor *Min net atomic charge (Zefirov) for any atom type* (q_{min}) represents the charge, calculated based on electron density allocated to atoms. Both descriptors *HDCA-2/SQRT* and q_{min} appear in the QSAR model with the negative sign which indicates that the potency of the substituted fullerenes to inhibit the HIV protease increases with the decreasing ability to form polar interactions and with the increased hydrophobicity of the compound. For assessing how

much the hydrophobicity of the substituted fullerenes influences their activity, *logP* was calculated and introduced as an additional descriptor for compounds. The inclusion of this descriptor slightly improved the statistical quality of the model (eq. 8).

$$pEC50 = -12.13 + 9.65 \cdot Max\sigma - \sigma + 4.88 \cdot RNCG + 0.38 \cdot \log P$$
(8)
$$R^{2} = 0.84, R_{cv}^{2} = 0.79, s^{2} = 0.17, F = 28.77, N = 20, n = 3, sPRESS = 0.22$$

In addition to the descriptor *logP*, this QSAR model contains two additional descriptors, i.e. *Relative negative charge (Zefirov's PC) (RNCG)* and *Max sigma-sigma bond order (AM1) (Max \sigma-\sigma)*. The potency of the substituted fullerenes increases with the increasing in values of both descriptors *RNCG* and *Max \sigma-\sigma*. The low values for the descriptor *RNCG* correspond to multiple centers with negative charge which render the compound incompatible with the hydrophobic channel of the protease. The descriptor *Max \sigma-\sigma* is related to the stability of the molecule.

The models obtained with descriptors calculated for fragments of the substituted fullerenes like the C_{60} core or substituent arms are significantly poorer. These results imply the conclusion that both fullerene core and substituent fragments are important for the antiviral activity of the fullerenes.

2.4. QSAR for Describing the Inhibition of β Amyloid Fibril Formation

Alzhaimer's disease that mostly appears in the old age population, is an incurable, degenerative disease characterized by brain damage often due to the deposition of β amyloid neuritic extracelular plaque and to the formation of Tau protein intraneuronal filamentous inclusions. The amyloid plaque appears due to overproduction of amyloid peptides (A β s) and is formed in several stages that include the conformational change of A β monomer from α helical to β structure and aggregation in oligomers, the oligomers aggregation in protofibrils and finally protofibril maturation into fibrils.

A potential treatment for Alzheimer's disease is to block the enzymes that cleave the amyloid precursor protein (APP) thus preventing the over flooding of the brain with A β s. Another strategy of treatment is to disrupt amyloid plaque formation by preventing the aggregation of A β s with different compounds such as Zn/Cu chelating molecules, surfactants, dyes, phenothiazines, polyphenols, porphyrines, antiinflamatory drugs, small peptides, dendrimers and nano-structures.

Two QSAR models are presented in article (IV) for the inhibition of amyloid fibrils (fA β (1-40) and fA β (1-42)) formation, based on EC50 for 24 compounds. The QSAR models were obtained with BMLR descriptor selection module implemented in CODESSA and are presented in eq. (9) and (10).

$$pEC50_{AB(1-40)} = 3.007(\pm 0.486) + 0.011(\pm 0.001) \cdot (HASA - 1) + 2107.1(\pm 459.85) \cdot N_{C}^{\min} - -10.423(\pm 1.402) \cdot (FNSA - 1) - 0.033(\pm 0.005) \cdot^{2}SIC$$

$$R^{2} = 0.856, R_{cv}^{2} = 0.773, s^{2} = 0.123, F = 28.23, N = 24, n = 4, sPRESS = 0.144$$

$$(9)$$

$$pEC50_{AB(1-42)} = 1.225(\pm 0.465) + 0.051(\pm 0.006) \cdot (HACA - 1) + 2266.300(\pm 471.24) \cdot N_{C}^{\min} - -6.166(\pm 1.273) \cdot (FNSA - 1) - 0.019(\pm 0.005) \cdot^{2}SIC$$

$$R^{2} = 0.828, R_{cv}^{2} = 0.764, s^{2} = 0.129, F = 22.83, N = 24, n = 4, sPRESS = 0.364$$

$$(10)$$

The two models contain three identical descriptors: Minimum nucleophilic reactivity index for a C atom (N_C^{\min}), Fractional Charge Negative Surface Area (*FNSA-1*) and Structural Information Content (order 2) (²SIC) and one descriptor that is slightly different in the two models, that is the Hydrogen Acceptor Surface Area (*HASA-1*) in eq. (9) or Hydrogen Acceptor Charged Area (*HACA-1*) in eq. (10).

The presence of the *HASA-1* and *HACA-1* descriptors in the models with positive sign indicates that the capacity of the molecules to inhibit fA β s formation increases with their increasing H bonding ability. The importance of H bonding in preventing A β s aggregation was also confirmed by the experimental observations which showed that small peptides that interact with A β s by both hydrogen bonding and side chain interactions are better inhibitors and that the replacement in peptides of the amide bonds, which is a H bonding site, with ester bonds, cancel their A β s inhibition activity. Experimental tests also showed that the compounds which contain more hydroxyl groups in the molecule are more able to inhibit fA β s formation.

The *FNSA-1* descriptor is calculated based on partial negative surface area and its presence in the models with negative sign indicates that the polar interactions between A β s and inhibitors are not favorable in preventing fA β s formation. The favoring of rather aromatic, hydrophobic, nonpolar interaction between A β s and inhibitors is mostly due to the presence of hydrophobic regions in the A β s peptides and it was experimentally confirmed by observations as the interaction between A β s and cyclodextrins or between the A β s and rifampicin lipophilic ansa chains. The experimental tests also confirmed the fact that hydrophobic molecules like curcumin, retinol and retinal are better inhibitors than polar molecules like retinoic acid.

The topological descriptor ²SIC is related to the size and compactness of a molecule, and its presence with a negative sign in the models shows that molecules with rather compact shape are better inhibitors of A β s. This increased activity with decreasing in molecular size was also experimentally observed in the case of the interaction of gangliosite with A β s and is due to the fact that large gangliosides do not accommodate well between the hydrophobic regions of A β s.

The N_C^{\min} descriptor is a measure of the reactivity of the atoms in the molecule. Its appearance with a positive sign in both models indicates that molecules with higher reactivity interact better with Aßs preventing thus their aggregation.

The EC50 for inhibiting $fA\beta(1-40)$ formation with 1,2-dimethoxymethano)fullerene was calculated using the model described by eq. (9). The three order of magnitude difference between the calculated and experimental property appear because the compounds that were used to develop the model (9) have a different mechanism of inhibiting $fA\beta(1-40)$ formation and different structures comparing with the substituted fullerene.

3. CONCLUSIONS

The QSPR/QSAR methodology was successfully applied for predicting the physico-chemical and biological properties of carbon nanostructures. The results have been presented in the articles included in the present thesis. The first article presents QSPR models for predicting the solubility of PAH and C60 fullerene in n-heptane and 1-octanol. The second article describes a QSPR model for making predictions of the polarizability of PAH and fullerenes. In the third article, a model for the inhibition of HIV protease by substituted fullerenes is reported. The fourth article involves QSAR models for the inhibition of β -amyloid fibril formation.

- (1) The solubility of PAH and C_{60} fullerene in two condensed media i.e. nheptane and 1-octanol was successfully described with two models, each having three descriptors. The models show that the solubility of PAH and C_{60} depends on descriptors which give information about the size and the shape of the molecule, the charges that appear in molecules and the interactions between the solute and solvent molecules.
- (2) A QSPR model was developed for the prediction of polarizability of PAHs and fullerenes. The *ab initio* calculated polarizabilities served as a training dataset for developing a QSPR model with only one descriptor the '*total molecular two-center exchange energy*' ($E_{exc}(tot)$). This one descriptor model has a good predictive power due to the capacity of the descriptor to account for both the isotropic and anisotropic part of the polarizability. The QSAR model was externally validated with a test set containing PAHs and fullerenes for which experimental polarizabily was also available. The predicted polarizability values were within the range of the experimental errors.
- (3) Experimental EC50 and K_i for 20 substituted fullerenes were used to develop models for HIV protease inhibition by these structures. The models were developed with descriptors calculated for the full molecule of the substituted fullerenes or for fragments of the molecule (fullerene core and substituent arms). The best model with good statistical quality and predictive power was obtained with descriptors calculated for the full molecules that account for the hydrophobicity and stability of the substituted fullerenes.
- (4) Two models for the inhibition of amyloid fibril formation (fA β (1–40) and fA β (1–42)) were developed starting from the EC50 of 24 compounds. Both models include almost identical descriptor which suggests a very similar mechanism of inhibition. The descriptors involved in the models reflect the importance of hydrogen bonding, hydrophobic interaction, steric effects and nucleophilic reactivity in the process of inhibiting fA β formation by different compounds. The model for inhibiting fA β (1–40) formation is not able to reproduce experimental EC50 for a substituted fullerene because this compound has different inhibition mechanism and structure comparing with the compounds that were used to develop the model.

REFERENCES

- 1. Kroto, H.W.; Heath, J. R.; O'Brien, S.C.; Curl, R.F.; Smalley, R.E. C₆₀: Buckminsterfullerene. *Nature* **1985**, *318*, 162–163.
- 2. Iijima, S. Helical microtubules of graphitic carbon. *Nature* 1991, 354, 56–58.
- 3. Iijima, S.; Ichihashi, T. Single-shell carbon nanotubes of 1-nm diameter. *Nature* **1993**, *363*, 603–605.
- 4. Piskoti, C.; Yarger, J.; Zettl, A. C36, a new carbon solid. *Nature* **1998**, *393*, 771–774.
- 5. Krätschmer, W.; Lamb, L.D.; Fostiropoulos, K.; Huffman, D. R. Solid C₆₀: a new form of carbon. *Nature* **1990**, *347*, 354–358.
- Lu, X.; Chen, Z. Curved Pi-Conjugation, Aromaticity and the Related Chemistry of Small Fullerenes (<C60) and Single Walled Carbon Nanotubes. *Chem. Rev.* 2005, 105, 3643–3696.
- Stephan, O.; Ajayan, P.M.; Colliex, C.; Redlich, P.; Lambert, J.M.; Bernier, P.; Lefin, P. Doping Graphitic and Carbon Nanotube Structures with Boron and Nitrogen. *Science* 1994, 266, 1683 – 1685.
- 8. Manaa, M.R.; Sprehn, D.W.; Ichord, H.A. High energy structures of azafullerenes C₄₈N₁₂. *Chem. Phys. Lett.* **2003**, *374*, 405–409.
- Beyers, R.; Kiang, C.H.; Johnson, R.D.; Salem, J.R.; de Vries, M.S.; Yannoni, C.S.; Bethune, D.S.; Dorn, H.C.; Burbank, P.; Harich, K.; Stevenson, S. Preparation and structure of crystals of the metallofullerene Sc₂@C₈₄. *Nature* 1994, 370, 196–199.
- 10. Rubio, A.; Corkill, J.L.; Cohen, M.L. Theory of graphitic boron nitride nanotubes. *Phys. Rev. B* **1994**, *49*, 5081–5084.
- 11. Chopra, N.G.; Luyken, R.J.; Cherrey, K.; Crespi, V.H.; Cohen, M.L.; Louie, S.G.; Zettl, A. Boron Nitride Nanotubes. *Science* **1995**, *269*, 966–967.
- 12. Mori, T.; Takada, H.; Ito, S.; Matsubayashi, K.; Miwa, N.; Sawaguchi, T. Preclinical studies on safety of fullerene upon acute oral administration and evaluation for no mutagenesis. *Toxicology* **2006**, *225*, 48–54.
- 13. Poland, C.A.; Duffin, R.; Kinloch, I.; Maynard, A.; Wallace, W.A.H.; Seaton, A.; Stone, V.; Brown, S.; MacNee, W.; Donaldson, K. Carbon nanotubes introduced into the abdominal cavity of mice show asbestos like pathogenicity in a pilot study. *Nat. Nanotechnol.* **2008**, *3*, 423–428.
- 14. Pagnout, C.; Rast, C.; Veber, A.M.; Poupin, P.; Ferard, J.F. Ecotoxicological assessment of PAHs and their dead-end metabolites after degradation by Myco-bacterium sp strain SNP 11. *Ecotoxicol. Environ. Saf.* **2006**, *65*, 151–158.
- 15. Heymann, D. Solubility of fullerenes C60 and C70 in water. *Lunar Planet. Sci. XXVII* **1996**, 542–543.
- 16. Cataldo, F.; Braun, T. The Solubility of C₆₀ Fullerene in Long Chain Fatty Acids Esters. *Full. Nanotubes Carbon Nanostruct.* **2007**, *15*, 331–339.
- 17. EU Council Directives 31/1989, 24/1998.
- 18. EU Council Directives 61/1996.
- 19. EU Council Directives 12/2006, 689/1991, 439/1975, 53/2000.
- 20. EC(2006) regulation(EC) No. 1907/2006 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 18 December 2006 concerning the Registration, Evaluation, Authorization and Restriction of Chemicals (REACH), establishing a European Chemicals Agency, amending Directive 1999/45/EC and repealing Council Regulation (EEC) No. 793/93 and Commission Regulation (EC) No. 1488/94 as well as Council

Directive 76/769/EEC and Commission Directives 91/155/EEC, 93/67/EEC, 93/105/EC and 2000/21/EC. Off. J.Eur. Union L 396/1 of 30.12.2006, Luxembourg.

- 21. Ho, W. Single-molecule chemistry. J. Chem. Phys. 2002, 117, 11033-11061.
- 22. Belin, T.; Epron, F. Characterization methods of carbon nanotubes: a review. *Mat. Sci. Eng. B* **2005**, *119*, 105–118.
- 23. Gallegos Saliner, A.; Burello, E.; Worth, A. Review of computational approaches for predicting the physicochemical and biological properties of nanoparticles. *JRC Scientific and Technical Reports EUR 23974 EN-2009*.
- 24. Bühl, M.; Hirsch, A. Spherical Aromaticity of Fullerenes. *Chem. Rev.* 2001, 101, 1153–1183.
- 25. Liu, L.; Jayanthi, C.S.; Wu, S.Y. Manifestation of aromaticity and its effects on the electronic structure of finite single-wall carbon nanotubes. *Chem. Phys. Lett.* **2002**, *357*, 91–96.
- 26. Treacy, M.M.J.; Ebbesen, T.W.; Gibson, J.M. Exceptionally high Young's modulus observed for individual carbon nanotubes. *Nature* **1996**, *381*, 678–680.
- 27. Thostenson, E.T.; Ren, Z.; Chou, T.W. Advances in the science and technology of carbon nanotubes and their composites: a review. *Compos. Sci. & Technol.* 2001, *61*, 1899–1912.
- 28. Odom, T.W.; Huang, J.L.; Kim, P.; Lieber, C. M. Structure and electronic properties of carbon nanotubes. *J. Phys. Chem. B* **2000**, *104*, 2794–2809.
- 29. White, C.T.; Mintmire, J.W. Fundamental properties of Single-Wall Carbon Nanotubes. J. Phys. Chem. B 2005, 109, 52–65.
- 30. Tans, S.J.; Verschueren, A.R.M.; Dekker, C. Room temperature transistors based on a single carboon nanotube. *Nature* **1998**, *393*, 49–52.
- 31. White, C.T.; Todorov, T.N. Nanotubes go ballistic. Nature 2001, 411, 649-651.
- 32. Berger, C.; Yi, Y.; Wang, Z.L.; de Heer, W.A. Multiwall carbon nanotubes as ballistic conductors at room temperature. *Appl. Phys. A* **2002**, *74*, 363–365.
- Hebard, A.F.; Rosseinsky, M.J.; Haddon, R.C.; Murphy, D.W.; Glarum, S.H.; Palstra, T.T.M.; Ramirez, A.P.; Kortan, A.R. Superconductivity at 18K in potassium-doped C60. *Nature* 1991, *350*, 600–601.
- Antoine, R.; Dugourd, P.; Rayane, D.; Benichou, E.; Broyer, M. Direct measurement of the electric polarizability of isolated C₆₀ molecules. *J. Chem. Phys.* 1999, 110, 9771–9772.
- 35. Koudoumas, E.; Konstantaki, M.; Mavromanolakis, A.; Michaut, X.; Couris, S.; Leach, S. Transient and instantaneous third-order nonlinear optical response of C₆₀ and the higher fullerenes C₇₀, C₇₆ and C₈₄. *J. Phys. B: At. Mol. Opt. Phys.* **2001**, *34*, 4983–4996.
- 36. Bingel, C. Cyclopropanierung von Fullerenen. Chemische Berichte 1993, 126, 1957–1959.
- 37. Bosi, S.; Da Ros, T.; Spalutto, G.; Prato, M. Fullerene derivatives: an attractive tool for biological applications. *Eur. J. Med. Chem.* **2003**, *38*, 913–923.
- Wong, S.S.; Joselevich, E.; Woolley, A.T.; Cheung, C.L.; Lieber, C.M. Covalently functionalized nanotubes as nanometer-sized probes in chemistry and biology. *Nature*, 1998, 394, 52–55.
- 39. Schinazi, R.F.; Sijbesma, R.; Srdanov, G.; Hill, C.L.; Wudl, F. Synthesis and Virucidal Activity of a Water-Soluble, Configurationally Stable, Derivatized C60 Fullerene. *Antimicrob. Agents Chemother.* **1993**, 1707–1710.

- 40. Marchesan, S.; Da Ros, T.; Spalluto, G.; Balzarini, J.; Prato, M. Anti-HIV properties of cationic fullerenes derivatives. *Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett.* **2005**, *15*, 3615–3618.
- Mashino, T.; Shimotohno, K.; Ikegami, N.; Nishikawa, D.; Okuda, K.; Takahashi, K.; Nakamura, S.; Mochizuki, M. Human immunodeficiency virus-reverse transcriptase inhibition and hepatitis C virus RNA-dependent RNA polymerase inhibition activities of fullerene derivatives. *Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett.* 2005, 15, 1107–1109.
- 42. Innocenti, A.; Durgagi, S.; Doostdar, N.; Strom, T.A.; Barron, A.R.; Supuran, C.T. Nanoscale enzyme inhibitors: Fullerenes inhibit carbonic anhydrase by occluding the active site entrance. *Bioorg. Med. Chem.* **2010**, *18*, 2822–2828.
- 43. Pastorin, G.; Marchesan, S.; Hoebeke, J.; Da Ros, T.; Ehret-Sabatier, L.; Briand, J.P.; Prato, M.; Bianco, A. Design and activity of cationic fullerene derivatives as inhibitors of acetylcholinesterase. *Org. Biomolec. Chem.* **2006**, *4*, 2556–2562.
- 44. Wolff, D.J.; Mialkowski, K.; Richardson, C.F.; Wilson, S.R. C60-Fullerene Monomalonate Adducts Selectively Inactivate Neuronal Nitric Oxide Synthase by Uncoupling the Formation of Reactive Oxygen Intermediates from Nitric Oxide Production. *Biochem.* **2001**, *40*, 37–45.
- 45. Hamano, T.; Okuda, K.; Mashino, T.; Hirobe, M.; Arakane, K.; Ryu, A.; Mashiko, S.; Nagano, T. Singlet oxygen production from fullerene derivatives: effect of sequential functionalization of the fullerene core. *Chem. Commun.* **1997**, 21–22.
- Rancan, F.; Rosan, S.; Boehm, F.; Cantrell, A.; Brellreich, M.; Schoenberger, H.; Hirsch, A.; Moussa, F. Cytotoxicity and photocytotoxicity of a dendritic C60 mono-adduct and a C60 malonic acid C tris-adduct on Jurkat cells. *J. Photochem. Photobiol. B: Biol.* 2002, *67*, 157–162.
- Sayes, C.M.; Fortner, J.D.; Guo, W.; Lyon, D.; Boyd, A.M.; Ausman, K.D.; Tao, Y.J.; Sitharaman, B.; Wilson, L.J.; Hughes, J.B.; West, J.L.; Colvin, V.L. The Differential Cytotoxicity of Water-Soluble Fullerenes. *Nano Lett.* 2004, *4*, 1881– 1887.
- 48. Takenaka, S.; Yamashita, K.; Takagi, M.; Hatta, T.; Tanaka, A.; Tsuge, O. Study of DNA Interaction with Water-soluble Cationic Fullerene Derivatives. *Chem. Lett.* **1999**, *28*, 319–320.
- 49. Sera, N.; Tokiwa, H.; Miyata, N. Mutagenicity of the fullerene C60-generated singlet oxygen dependent formation of lipid peroxides. *Carcinogenesis* **1996**, *17*, 2163–2169.
- Dhawan, A.; Taurozzi, J.S.; Pandey, A.K.; Shan, W.; Miller, S.M.; Hashsham, S. A.; Tarabara, V.V. Stable Colloidal Dispersions of C60 Fullerenes in Water: Evidence for Genotoxicity. *Environ.Sci.Technol.* 2006, *40*, 7394–7401.
- 51. Bosi, S.; Feruglio, L.; Da Ros, T.; Spalluto, G.; Gregoretti, B.; Terdoslavich, M.; Decorti, G.; Passamonti, S.; Moro, S.; Prato, M. Hemolytic Effects of Water-Soluble Fullerenes Derivatives. *J. Med. Chem.* **2004**, *47*, 6711–6715.
- 52. Jin, H.; Chen, W.Q.; Tang, X.W.; Chiang, L.Y.; Yang, C.Y.; Schloss, J.V.; Wu, J.Y. Polyhydroxylated C60, fullerenols, as glutamate Receptor antagonists and Neuroprotective Agents. *J. Neurosci. Res.* **2000**, *62*, 600–607.
- 53. Tsau, N.; Kanakamma, P.P.; Luh, T.Y.; Chou, C.K.; Lei, H.Y. Inhibition of Escherichia coli-Induced Meningitis by Carboxyfullerenes. *Antimicrob. Agents Chemother.* **1999**, 2273–2277.

- 54. Mashino, T.; Okuda, K.; Hirota, T.; Hirobe, M.; Nagano, T.; Mochizuki, M. Inhibition of E.coli growth by fullerene derivatives and inhibition mechanism. *Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett.* **1999**, *9*, 2959–2962.
- 55. Bosi, S.; Da Ros, T.; Castellano, S.; Banfi, E. Prato, M. Antimycobacterial Activity of Ionic Fullerene Derivatives. *Bioorg.Med. Chem. Lett.* **2000**, *10*, 1043–1045.
- Tsao, N.; Luh, T.Y.; Chou, C.K.; Wu, J.J.; Lin, Y.S.; Lei, H.Y. Inhibition of Group A Streptococcus Infection by Carboxyfullerene. *Antimicrob. Agents Chemother*. 2001, 1788–1793.
- 57. Tsao, N.; Luh, T.Y.; Chou, C.K.; Chang, T.Y.; Wu, J.J.; Liu, C.C.; Lei, H.Y. In vitro action of carboxyfullerene *J. Antimicrob. Chemother.* **2002**, *49*, 641–649.
- 58. Mashino, T.; Usui, N.; Okuda, K.; Hirotab, T.; Mochizuki, M. Respiratory Chain Inhibition by Fullerene Derivatives: Hydrogen Peroxyde Production Caused by Fullerene Derivatives and a Respiratory Chain System. *Bioorg. Med. Chem.* **2003**, *11*, 1433–1438.
- Mashino, T.; Nishikawa, D.; Takahashi, K.; Usui, N.; Yamori, T.; Seki, M.; Endo, T.; Mochizuki, M. Antibacterial and Antiproliferative Activity of Cationic fullerene Derivatives. *Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett.* 2003, 13, 4395–4397.
- 60. Kim, J.E.; Lee, M. Fullerene inhibits β-amyloid peptide aggregation. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* **2003**, *303*, 576–579.
- 61. Shinohara, H. Endohedral metalofullerenes. Rep. Prog. Phys. 2000, 63, 843-892.
- Qingnuan, L.; Yan, X.; Xiaodong, Z.; Ruili, L.; Qieqie, D.; Xiaoguang, S.; Shaoliang, C.; Wenxin, L. Preparation of ^{99m}Tc-C60(OH)_x and its biodistribution studies. *Nucl. Med. Biol.* 2002, 29, 707–710.
- 63. Wharton, T.; Wilson, L. Highly-Iodinated Fullerene as a Contrast Agent for X-ray Imaging. *Bioorg. Med. Chem.* **2002**, *10*, 3545–3554.
- 64. Ruoff, R.S.; Tse, D.S.; Malhotra, R.; Lorents, D.C. Solubility of C₆₀ in a Variety of Solvents. *J. Phys. Chem.* **1993**, *97*, 3379–3383.
- 65. Andrievsky, G.V.; Klochkov, V.K.; Bordyuh, A.B.; Dovbeshko, G.I. Comparative analysis of two aqueous-colloidal solutions of C₆₀ fullerene with help of FTIR reflectance and UV–Vis spectroscopy. *Chem. Phys. Lett.* **2002**, *364*, 8–17.
- 66. Brettreich, M.; Hirsch, A. A highly water-soluble dendro[60]fullerene. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1998**, *39*, 2731–2734.
- 67. Monthioux, M.; Smith, B.W.; Burteaux, B.; Claye, A.; Fischer, J.E.; Luzzi, D.E. Sensitivity of single-wall carbon nanotubes to chemical processing: an electron microscopy investigation. *Carbon*, **2001**, *39*, 1251–1272.
- 68. Duesberg, G.S.; Muster, J.; Krstic, V.; Burghard, M.; Roth, S. Chromatographic size separation of single-wall carbon nanotubes. *Appl. Phys. A: Mat. Sci. Process.* **1998**, *67*, 117–119.
- 69. Karasek, P.; Planeta, J.; Roth, M. Solubility of Solid Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons in Pressurized Hot Water: Correlation with Pure Component Properties. *Ind. Eng. Chem. Res.* **2006**, *45*, 4454–4460.
- 70. Sverdrup, L.E.; Nielsen, T.; Krogh, P.H. Soil Ecotoxicity of Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons in Relation to Soil Sorption, Lipophilicity and Water Solubility. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2002**, *36*, 2429–2435.
- 71. McGraw-Hill Dictionary of Scientific and Technical Terms, 6th edition, published by The McGraw-Hill Companies, Inc.
- 72. Feynman, R. P.; Leighton, R. B.; Sands, M. Lectures on Physics **1964** Volume 2, Chapter 32, section 3.

- Jensen, L.; Åstrand, P.O.; Osted, A.; Kongsted, J.; Mikkelsen, K.V. Polarizability of molecular clusters as calculated by a dipole interaction model. *J. Chem. Phys.* 2002, *116*, 4001–4010.
- 74. Gresh, N. Development, Validation, and Applications of Anisotropic Polarizable Molecular Mechanics to Study Ligand and Drug-receptor Interactions. *Curr. Pharm. Des.* **2006**, *12*, 2121–2158.
- 75. Illingworth, C. J. R.; Morris, M. G.; Parkes, K. E. B.; Snell, C. R.; Reynolds, C. A. Assessing the Role of Polarization in Docking. *J. Phys. Chem. A* 2008, *112*, 12157–12163.
- 76. Zhang, R.; Lev, B.; Cuervo, J. E.; Noskov, S. Y.; Salahub, D. R. A Guide to QM/ MM Methodology and Applications. *Adv. Quant. Chem.* **2010**, *59*, 353–400.
- 77. http://chemdb.niaid.nih.gov/
- 78. De Clercq, E. Antiviral therapy for human immunodeficiency virus infections. *Clin. Microbial. Rev.* **1995**, *8*, 200–239.
- Friedman, S.H.; DeCamp, D.L.; Sijbesma, R.P.; Srdanov, G.; Wudl, F.; Kenyon, G.L. Inhibition of the HIV–1 Protease by Fullerene Derivatives: Model Building Studies and Experimental Verification. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **1993**, *115*, 6506–6509.
- Schinazi, R.F.; Sijbesma, R.; Srdanov, G.; Hill, C.L.; Wudl, F. Synthesis and Virucidal Activity of a Water-Soluble, Configurationally Stable, Derivatized C₆₀ Fullerene. *Antimicrob. Agents Chemother.* **1993**, *37*, 1707–1710.
- 81. Schuster, D.I.; Wilson, S.R.; Schinazi, R.F. Anti-human immunodeficiency virus activity and cytotoxicity of derivatized buckminsterfullerenes. *Bioorg&Med. Chem. Lett.* **1996**, *11*, 1253–1256.
- 82. Nosik, D.N.; Lialina, O.A.; Lobach, O.A.; Chataeva, M.S.; Rasnetsov, L.D. The antiretroviral agent Fullevir. *Voprosy Virusologii* **2009**, *54*, 41–43.
- 83. Derouesné, C. Alzheimer and Alzheimer's disease: the present enlighted by the past. An historical approach. *Psychol. Neuropsychiatr. Vieil.* **2008** *6*, 115–128.
- 84. Jellinger, K.A.; Bancher, C. Neuropathology of Alzheimer's disease: a critical update. *J Neural. Transm. Suppl.* **1998**, *54*, 77–95.
- Hartmann, T.; Bieger, S.C; Brühl, B.; Tienari, P. J.; Ida, N.; Allsop, D.; Roberts, G.W.; Masters, C.L.; Dotti, C.G.; Unsicker, K.; Beyreuther, K. Distinct sites of intracellular production for Alzheimer's disease A beta40/42 amyloid peptides. *Nat Med.* 1997, *3*, 1016–1020.
- 86. De Strooper, B. Proteases and Proteolysis in Alzheimer Disease: A Multifactorial View on the Disease Process. *Physiol Rev.* **2010**, *90*, 465–494.
- 87. Citron, M. Strategies for disease modification in Alzheimer's disease. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* 2004 *5*, 677–685.
- Re, F.; Airoldi, C.; Zona, C.; Masserini, M.; La Ferla, B.; Quattrocchi, N.; Nicotra, F. Beta Amyloid Aggregation Inhibitors: Small Molecules as Candidate Drugs for Therapy of Alzheimer's Disease. *Curr. Med. Chem.* 2010, *17*, 2990–3006.
- Lashuel, H. A.; Hartley, D. M.; Balakhaneh, D.; Aggarwal, A.; Teichberg, S.; Callaway, D. J. E. New Class of Inhibitors of Amyloid- Fibril Formation. *J. Biol. Chem.* 2002, 277, 42881–42890.
- 90. Bush, A.I. Metal complexing agents as therapies for Alzheimer's disease. *Neurobiol. Aging* **2002**, *23*, 1031–1038.
- Sabate, R.; Estelrich, J. Stimulatory and inhibitory effects of alkyl bromide surfactants on β-amyloid fibrilogenesis. *Langmuir* 2005, 21, 6944–6949.

- Pollack, S. J.; Sadler, I. I.; Hawtin, S. R.; Tailor, V. J.; Shearman, M. S. Sulfonated dyes attenuate the toxic effects of β-amyloid in a structure specific fashion. *J. Neurosci. Lett.* **1995**, *197*, 211–214.
- Xie, Y.; Deng, S.; Chen, Z.; Yan, S.; Landry, D.W. Identification of small-molecule inhibitors of the Aβ-ABAD interaction. *Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett.* 2006, *16*, 4657–4660.
- 94. Taniguchi, S.; Suzuki, N.; Masuda, M.; Hisanaga, S.; Iwatsubo, T.; Goedert, M.; Hasegawa, M. Inhibition of Heparin-induced Tau Filament Formation by Phenothiazines, Polyphenols and Porphyrins. *J. Biol. Chem.* **2005**, *280*, 7614–7623.
- 95. Howlett, D.; Cutler, P.; Heales, S.; Camilleri, P. Hemin and related porphyrins inhibit β-amyloid aggregation. *FEBS Lett.* **1997**, *417*, 249–251.
- 96. Thomas, T.; Nadackal, G.; Thomas, K. Aspirin and non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs inhibit amyloid-β aggregation. *NeuroReport* **2001**, *12*, 3263–3267.
- 97. in 't Veld, B. A.; Ruitenberg, A.; Hofman, A.; Launer, L. J.; van Duijn, C. M.; Stijnen, T.; Breteler, M. M. B.; Stricker, B. H.C. Nonsteroidal Antiinflammatory Drugs and the Risk of Alzheimer's Disease. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 2001, 345, 1515– 1521.
- Lim, G.P.; Yang, F.; Chu, T.; Chen, P.; Beech, W.; Teter, B.; Tran, T.; Ubeda, O.; Hsiao Ashe, K.; Frautschy, S. A.; Cole, G. M. Ibuprofen Suppresses Plaque Pathology and Inflammation in a Mouse Model for Alzheimer's Disease. *J. Neurosci.* 2000, 20, 5709–5714.
- Chafekar, S. M.; Malda, H.; Merkx, M.; Meijer, E.W.; Viertl, D.; Lashuel, H.A.; Baas, F.; Scheper, W. Branched KLVFF Tetramers Strongly Potentiate Inhibition of β-Amyloid Aggregation. *ChemBioChem*, **2007**, *8*, 1857–1864.
- 100. Pai, A.S.; Rubinstein, I.; Onyuksel, H. PEGylated phospholipids nanomicelles interact with β -amyloid (1–42) and mitigate its β -sheet formation, aggregation and neurotoxicity in vitro. *Peptides* **2006**, *27*, 2858–2866.
- 101. Rafii-Tabar, H. Computational modeling of termo-mechanical and transport properties of carbon nanotubes. *Phys. Rep.* **2004**, *390*, 235–452.
- 102. WenXing, B.; ChangChun, Z.; WanZhao, C. Simulation of Young's modulus of single-walled carbon nanotubes by molecular dynamics. *Physica B* 2004, 352, 156–163.
- 103. Odom, T.W.; Huang, J.L.; Kim, P.; Lieber, C.M. Atomic structure and electronic properties of single-walled carbon nanotubes. *Nature* **1998**, *391*, 62–64.
- 104. Mintmire, J.W.; Dunlap, B.I.; White, C.T. Are Fullerene Tubules Metallic? *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **1992**, *68*, 631–634.
- 105. Cabria, I.; Mintmire, J.W.; White, C.T. Metallic and semiconducting narrow carbon nanotubes. *Phys. Rev. B* 2003, 67, 121406.
- 106. Hamada, N.; Sawada, S.I.; Oshiyama, A. New One-Dimensional Conductors: Graphitic Microtubules. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **1992**, *68*, 1579–1581.
- 107. White, C.T.; Todorov, T.N. Carbon nanotubes as long ballistic conductors. *Nature* **1998**, *393*, 240–242.
- 108. Matsuzawa, N.; Dixon, D.A. Semiempirical Calculations of the Polarizability and Second-Order Hyperpolarizability of C₆₀, C₇₀ and Model Aromatic Compounds. J. Phys. Chem. **1992**, 96, 6241–6247.
- 109. Applequist, J. Atom Charge Transfer in Molecular Polarizabilities. Application of the Olson-Sundberg Model to Aliphatic and Aromatic Hydrocarbons. J. Phys. Chem. **1993**, 97, 6016–6023.

- 110. Shanker, B.; Applequist, J. Polarizabilities of Fullerenes C₂₀ through C₂₄₀ from Atom Monopole-Dipole Interaction Theory. *J. Phys. Chem.* **1994**, *98*, 6486–6489.
- 111. van Faassen, M.; Jensen, L.; Berger, J.A.; de Boeij, P.L. Size-scaling of the polarizability of tubular fullerenes investigated with time-dependent (current)-density-functional theory. *Chem. Phys. Lett.* **2004**, *395*, 274–278.
- 112. Jenssen, L.; Astrand, P.O.; Mikkelsen, K.V. The Static Polarizability and Second Hyperpolarizability of Fullerenes and Carbon Nanotubes. *J. Phys. Chem. A* **2004**, *108*, 8795–8800.
- 113. Durgagi, S.; Mavromoustakos, T.; Chronakis, N.; Papadopoulos, M.G. Computational design of novel fullerene analogues as potential HIV-1 PR inhibitors: Analysis of the binding interactions between fullerene inhibitors and HIV-1 PR residues using 3D QSAR, molecular docking and molecular dynamics simulations. *Bioorg. Med. Chem.* 2008, *16*, 9957–9974.
- 114. Durgagi, S.; Mavromoustakos, T.; Papadopoulos, M.G. 3D QSAR CoMFA/ CoMSIA, molecular docking and molecular dynamics studies of fullerene-based HIV–1 PR inhibitors. *Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett.* **2008**, *18*, 6283–6289.
- 115. Ali, S. S.; Hardt, J. I.; Dugan, L.L. SOD Activity of carboxyfullerenes predicts their neuroprotective efficacy: a structure-activity study. *Nanomed. Nanotchnol. Biol. Med.* **2008**, *4*, 283–294.
- 116. Sivaraman, N.; Srinivasan, T.G.; Vasudeva Rao, P.R.; Natarajan, R. QSPR Modelling for Solubility of Fullerene (C₆₀) in Organic Solvents. J. Chem. Inf. Comput. Sci. 2001, 41, 1067–1074.
- 117. Huang, J.C. Multiparameter solubility model of fullerene C₆₀. *Fluid Phase Equilibria* **2005**, *237*, 186–192.
- 118. Liu, H.; Yao, X.; Zhang, R.; Liu, M.; Hu, Z.; Fan, B. Accurate Quantitative Structure-Property Relationship Model To Predict the Solubility of C₆₀ in Various Solvents Based on a Novel Approach Using a Least-Squares Support Vector Machine. J. Phys. Chem. B 2005, 109, 20565–20571.
- Marcus, Y.; Smith, A.L.; Korobov, M.V.; Mirakyan, A.L.; Avramenko, N.V.; Stukalin, E. B. Solubility of C₆₀ Fullerene. J. Phys. Chem. B 2001, 105, 2499– 2506.
- 120. Torrens, F. Calculations on solvents and co-solvents of single-wall carbon nanotubes: cyclopyranoses. *Nanotechnol.* 2005, *16*, S181–S189.
- 121. Kapelle, K. A Bird's-Eye View of Density-Functional Theory. *Brazilian J. Phys.* **2006**, *36*, 1318–1343.
- 122. Becke, A.D. Density-functional thermochemistry. III. The role of exact exchange. *J. Chem. Phys.* **1993**, *98*. 5648–5652.
- 123. Ditchfield, R.; Hehre, W.J.; Pople, J.A. Self-Consistent Molecular-Orbital Methods. IX. An Extended Gaussian-Type Basis for Molecular-Orbital Studies of Organic Molecules. *J. Chem. Phys.* **1971**, *54*, 724–728.
- 124. McLean, A.D.; Chandler, G.S. Contracted Gaussian basis sets for molecular calculations. I. Second row atoms, Z-11-18. J. Chem. Phys. **1980**, 72, 5639–5848.
- 125. Frisch, M. J.; Trucks, G. W.; Schlegel, H. B.; Scuseria, G. E.; Robb,M. A.; Cheeseman, J. R.; Montgomery, J. A., Jr.; Vreven, T.; Kudin, K.N.; Burant, J. C.; Millam, J. M.; Iyengar, S. S.; Tomasi, J.; Barone, V.; Mennucci, B.; Cossi, M.; Scalmani, G.; Rega, N.; Petersson, G. A.; Nakatsuji, H.; Hada, M.; Ehara, M.; Toyota, K.; Fukuda, R.; Hasegawa, J.; Ishida, M.; Nakajima, T.; Honda, Y.; Kitao, O.; Nakai, H.; Klene, M.; Li, X.; Knox, J. E.; Hratchian, H. P.; Cross, J. B.; Bakken, V.; Adamo, C.; Jaramillo, J.; Gomperts, R.; Stratmann, R. E.; Yazyev, O.;

Austin, A. J.; Cammi, R.; Pomelli, C.; Ochterski, J. W.; Ayala, P. Y.; Morokuma, K.; Voth, G. A.; Salvador, P.; Dannenberg, J. J.; Zakrzewski, V. G.; Dapprich, S.; Daniels, A. D.; Strain, M. C.; Farkas, O.; Malick, D. K.; Rabuck, A. D.; Raghavachari, K.; Foresman, J. B.; Ortiz, J. V.; Cui, Q.; Baboul, A.G.; Clifford, S.; Cioslowski, J.; Stefanov, B. B.; Liu, G.; Liashenko, A.; Piskorz, P.; Komaromi, I.; Martin, R. L.; Fox, D. J.; Keith, T.; Al-Laham, M. A.; Peng, C. Y.; Nana-yakkara, A.; Challacombe, M.; Gill, P. M. W.; Johnson, B.; Chen, W.; Wong, M. W.; Gonzalez, C.; Pople, J. A. *Gaussian03*, revision A.1; Gaussian, Inc.: Pittsburgh PA, 2003.

- 126. Cronin, M.T.D.; Schultz, T.W. Pitfalls in QSAR. J.Mol.Struct.-Theochem. 2003, 622, 39–51.
- 127. MDL ISSIS Draw; Symyx Technologies, Inc., 3100 Central Expressway, Santa Clara, CA, USA. (www.symyx.com)
- 128. ChemDraw; CambridgeSoft Corporation, 100 CambridgePark Drive, Cambridge, MA, USA. (www.cambridgesoft.com)
- 129. http://jcrystal.com/steffenweber/gallery/Fullerenes/Fullerenes.html
- 130. Nanotube Modeler Version 1.6.4 J CrystalSoft, 2005–2010.
- 131. Stewart, J.J.P. MOPAC Program Package 6.0. QCPE No. 455, 1990.
- 132. Dewar, M.J.S.; Zoebisch, E.G.; Healy, E.F.; Stewart, J.J.P. Development and use of quantum mechanical molecular models. 76. AM1: a new general purpose quantum mechanical molecular model. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **1985**, *107*, 3902–3909.
- 133. Stewart, J.J.P. Optimization of parameters for semiempirical methods I. Method. J. Comp. Chem. 1989, 10, 209–220.
- 134. Katritzky, A.R.; Lobanov, V.S.; Karelson, M. CODESSA, version 2.0.CODESSA
- 135. Katritzky, A.R.; Karelson, M.; Petrukhin, R. Comprehensive Descriptors for Structural and Statistical Analysis, The CODESSA PRO project, University of Florida 2001–2005.
- 136. QSARModel, Molcode, Ltd., Tartu, 2008
- 137. http://www.vcclab.org/lab/edragon/start.html
- 138. Draper, N.R.; Smith, H. Applied Regression Analysis, Wiley, New York, 1966.
- 139. Wold, S; Sjöström, M.; Eriksson, L. PLS-regression: a basic tool of chemometrics. *Chemometr. Intell. Lab. Syst.* 2001, 58, 109–130.
- 140. Shlens, J. A Tutorial on Principal Component Analysis, 2009.
- 141. Zupan, J.; Gasteiger, J. Neural Networks for Chemists: An Introduction. VCH, 1993.
- 142. Doucet, J.P.; Barbault, F.; Xia, H.; Panaye, A.; Fan, B. Nonlinear SVM Approaches to QSPR/QSAR Studies and Drug Design. *Curr. Comput. Aided-Drug Des.* 2007, *3*, 263–289.
- 143. Katritzky, A.R.; Lobanov, V. S.; Karelson, M. CODESSA Reference Manual version 2.0, Gainesville, 1994.
- 144. Roy, K. On some aspects of validation of predictive quantitative structure-activity relationship models. *Expert Opin. Drug Discov.* **2007**, *2*, 1567–1577.
- 145. Sazonovas, A.; Japertas, P.; Didziapetris, R. Estimation of reliability of predictions and model applicability domain evaluation in the analysis of acute toxicity (LD50). *SAR QSAR Env. Res.* **2010**, *21*, 127–148.
- 146. Virtual Computational Chemistry Laboratory. http://vcclab.org/lab/alogps/
- 147. Karelson, M. *Molecular descriptors in QSAR/QSPR*. Willey-Interscience: New york, 2000.

- 148. Babić, D.; Klein, D.J.; Lukovits, I.; Nicolić, S.; Trinajstić, N. Resistance-Distance Matrix: A Computational Algorithm and Its Application. *Int. J. Quant. Chem.* 2002, 90, 166–176.
- 149. Rassat, A.; Fowler, P.W.; de La Vaissière, B. Cahn-Ingold-Prelog Descriptors of Absolute Configuration for Carbon Cages. *Chem. Eur. J.* **2001**, *7*, 3985–3991.
- 150. Ivanciuc, O.; Laidboeur, T.; Cabrol-Bass, D. Degeneracy of Topologic Distance Descriptors for Cubic Molecular Graphs: Examples of Small Fullerenes. *J.Chem. Inf. Comput.Sci.* **1997**, *37*, 485–488.
- 151. Choho, K.; Langenaeker, W.; Van de Woude, G.; Geerlings, P. Local softness and hardness as reactivity indices in the fullerenes C₂₄-C₇₆. *J. Molec. Struct. (Theochem)* **1996**, *362*, 305–315.
- 152. John, P.E.; Diudea, M.V. Wiener Index of Zig-Zag Polyhex Nanotubes. *Croatica Chim. Acta* 2004, 77, 127–132.
- 153. Diudea, M.V.; Stefu, M.; Pârv, B.; John, P.E. Wiener Index of Armchair Polyhex Nanotubes. *Croatica Chim. Acta* 2004, 77, 111–115.
- 154. Stone, M. Cross-Validatory Choice and Assessment of Statistical Predictions. J.R. Stat. Soc., B 1974, 36, 111–147.
- 155. Gramatica, P. Principles of QSAR models validation: internal and external. *QSAR Comb. Sci.* **2007**, *26*, 694–701.
- 156. Jonathan, P.; Krzanowski, W.J.; Mccarthy, W.V. On the use of cross-validation to assesss performance in multivariate prediction. *Statistics and Computing* **2000**, *10*, 209–229.
- 157. Golbraikh, A.; Tropsha, A. Beware of q²! *J. Molec. Graph. Model.* **2002**, *20*, 269–276.

SUMMARY IN ESTONIAN

QSPR/QSAR lähenemine süsiniknanoosakeste omaduste ennustamiseks

Peale süsiniknanoosakeste avastamist on selgunud, et nende süntees, analüüs ja omaduste määramine on päris keeruline. Selleks, et vähendada eksperimentaalse töö mahtu, on kasutatud mitmeid arvutustehnikaid nende ühendite omaduste ennustamiseks. Käesolevas doktoritöös on testitud QSPR/QSAR meetodite rakendatavust süsiniknanoosakeste füüsikaliste ja keemiliste omaduste ja bioloogiliste aktiivsuste ennustamiseks.

Sissejuhatus ja kirjanduse ülevaade annavad lühikese kokkuvõtte süsiniknanoosakestest, nende olulisematest ja huvitavamatest tehnilistest ja bioloogilistest omadustest, arvutustehnikatest ja molekulaardeskriptoritest nende omaduste modelleerimiseks ning nende mõjust keskkonnale ja inimeste tervisele.

Doktoritöö kirjeldab järgmiste omaduste modelleerimist: polüaromaatsete süsivesinike ja C_{60} fullereeni lahustuvus n-heptaanis ja 1-oktanoolis, polüaromaatsete süsivesinike ja fullereenide polariseeritavus, HIV-1 proteaasi inhibeerimine asendatud C_{60} fullereeni derivaatide poolt, ning fibrillaarse amüloidi tekkimise inhibeerimine. Kõikide nende omaduste jaoks loodi hea ennustusvõimega mudelid. Need mudelid võivad olla kasulikud tuntud ühendite omaduste ennustamiseks, mille kohta puuduvad veel eksperimentaalsed andmed või isegi rakendada ühenditele mida pole kunagi sünteesitud, kuid mis võivad omada kasulike ja huvipakkuvaid omadusi või aktiivsusi.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to express my greatest gratitude to my supervisor Professor Mati Karelson for giving me the opportunity to make my PhD degree in the Group of Molecular Technology, University of Tartu and for all the support he gave to me during these years. My deepest thanks go to Dr. Uko Maran and Dr. Sulev Sild for their excellent advice and collaboration as co-authors of my publications and for their expertise in computational chemistry. I would also like to acknowledge Dr. Indrek Tulp for valuable discussions and all the colleagues in the group for the friendly environment they created. Many thanks are due to my colleague Maikki Moosus for friendship and moral support. My sincere acknowledgement is also due to Mr. Roy Lowthian for proofreading, companionship and giving me the opportunity to share together the experience of the beautiful Estonian landscape and friendly Estonian families.

My profound thanks are for my mother, family and friends from Romania for all they had done for me in my lifetime and also in the last years that I have spent in Estonia, when even if far apart I could rely on their love and support.

PUBLICATIONS

CURRICULUM VITAE

Dana Martin

Born:	19/11/1970, Timişoara, Romania
Citizenship:	Romanian
Address:	Department of Chemistry, University of Tartu,
	19 Ravila Street, Tartu 50411, Estonia
Tel:	+372 5362 0674
e-mail:	danamartin_tim@yahoo.com

Education

2006–present	Ph.D. student of Molecular Engineering, University of Tartu
1998	M.Sc. Chemistry Technical University of Timişoara, Romania,
	Industrial Chemistry and Environmental Engineering Faculty
1997	B.Sc.Engineering studies, Technical University of Timişoara,
	Industrial Chemistry and Environmental Engineering Faculty

Professional Experience

2008-present	Research Scientist, Tallinn University of Technology,
	Department of Chemistry, Chair of Molecular Technology.
2007-2010	Research scientist, Molcode Ltd.
2007-2008	Chemist, University of Tartu, Department of Molecular
	Technology
2005-2007	EU scholarship in the frame of Nanoquant project, University
	of Tartu, Department of Theoretical Chemistry
2002-2005	Research Assistant, Institute of Chemistry Timişoara of
	Romania Academy, Inorganic Chemistry Laboratory,
	Coordination Chemistry Group
2004	Universita degli Studi di Firenze, Molecular Magnetism
	Laboratory, MolMag grant in the frame of EC Marie Curie
	Fellowship
2001	Engineer, Quality and Environment Protection Department,
	Water Supply and Wastewater Treatment Company Aquatim
	Timişoara
2000-2001	Assistant Manager and translator – Water Supply and
	Wastewater Treatment Company Aquatim Timişoara
2000	Teaching Assistant, University of Medicine and Pharmacy,
	Timișoara, Romania
1998–2000	Research Assistant, Romanian Academy, Timişoara Branch,
	Inorganic Chemistry Laboratory, Catalysis Group

Publications

- 1. Martin, D.; Karelson, M. Quantitative Structure Activity Relationships for Describing the Inhibition of the β Amyloid Fibril Formation, *Lett. Drug Des. Discov.* **2011**, submitted.
- Martin, D.; Karelson, M. The Quantitative Structure Activity for Predicting HIV Protease Inhibition by Substituted Fullerenes, *Lett. Drug Des.Discov.* 2010, 7, 587–595.
- 3. Martin, D.; Sild, S.; Maran, U.; Karelson, M. QSPR Modeling of the Polarizability of Polyaromatic Hydrocarbons and Fullerenes, *J. Phys. Chem. C* **2008**, *112*, 4785–4790.
- 4. Martin, D.; Maran, U.; Sild, S.; Karelson. M. QSPR Modeling of Solubility of Polyaromatic Hydrocarbons and Fullerene in 1-Octanol and *n*-Heptane, *J. Phys. Chem. B* **2007**, *111*, 9853–9857.
- Sasca, V.; Popa, A.; Martin, D. Structural and textural properties of H₃[PMo₁₂O₄₀] and H₃[PVMo₁₁O₄₀] salts with monovalent cations in relation to temperature. I. Synthesis and characterization, *Rev. Roum. Chim.* 2004, 49,383–389.

ELULOOKIRJELDUS

Dana Martin

Sündinud:	19/11/1970, Timişoara, Rumeenia
Kodakondsus:	Rumeenia
Aadress:	Keemia Instituut, Tartu Ülikool, Ravila 14a, Tartu, 50411
Tel:	+372 5362 0674
e-mail:	danamartin_tim@yahoo.com

Haridus

2006–praegu	Doktorant, Tartu Ülikool, Loodus- ja tehnoloogiateaduskond
1998	Magistrikraad, Timişoara Tehnika Ülikool, Rumeenia,
	Tööstuskeemia ja keskkonna tehnika teaduskond
1997	Bakalaureusekraad, Timişoara Tehnika Ülikool, Rumeenia,
	Tööstuskeemia ja keskkonna tehnika teaduskond

Erialane kogemus

2008–praegu	Teadur, Tallinn Tehnika Ülikool, Keemiainstituut,
	Molekulaartehnoloogia õppetool
2007-2010	Teadur, Molcode AS
2007-2008	Keemik, Tartu Ülikool, Molekulaartehnoloogia õppetool
2005-2007	EL stipendium projekti Nanoquant raames, Tartu Ülikool,
	Teoreetilise keemia õppetool
2002-2005	Teadur, Keemia Instituut, Rumeenia Akadeemia Timişoara
	osakond, Anorgaanilise keemia labor, Koordinatsioonilise
	keemia grupp
2004	Marie Curie stipendium projekti MolMag raames, Firenze
	Ülikool, Molekulaarmagnetismi labor
2001	Insener, Aquatim, Timişoara, Kvaliteedi ja keskkonna kaitse
	osakond
2000–2001	Assistent ja tõlkija, Aquatim, Timişoara
2000	Abilektor, Meditsiini ja Farmaatsia Ülikool, Timişoara,
	Rumeenia
1998–2000	Teadur, Keemia Instituut, Rumeenia Akadeemia Timişoara
	osakond, Anorgaanilise keemia labor, Katalüüsi grupp

Publikatsioonid

- 1. Martin, D.; Karelson, M. Quantitative Structure Activity Relationships for Describing the Inhibition of the β Amyloid Fibril Formation, *Lett. Drug Des. Discov.* **2011**, submitted.
- Martin, D.; Karelson, M. The Quantitative Structure Activity for Predicting HIV Protease Inhibition by Substituted Fullerenes, *Lett. Drug Des. Discov.* 2010, 7, 587–595.
- Martin, D.; Sild, S.; Maran, U.; Karelson, M. QSPR Modeling of the Polarizability of Polyaromatic Hydrocarbons and Fullerenes, *J. Phys. Chem. C* 2008, 112, 4785–4790.
- 4. Martin, D.; Maran, U.; Sild, S.; Karelson. M. QSPR Modeling of Solubility of Polyaromatic Hydrocarbons and Fullerene in 1-Octanol and *n*-Heptane, *J. Phys. Chem. B* **2007**, *111*, 9853–9857.
- 5. Sasca, V.; Popa, A.; Martin, D. Structural and textural properties of $H_3[PMo_{12}O_{40}]$ and $H_3[PVMo_{11}O_{40}]$ salts with monovalent cations in relation to temperature. I. Synthesis and characterization, *Rev. Roum. Chim.* **2004**, *49*,383–389.

DISSERTATIONES CHIMICAE UNIVERSITATIS TARTUENSIS

- 1. **Toomas Tamm.** Quantum-chemical simulation of solvent effects. Tartu, 1993, 110 p.
- 2. **Peeter Burk.** Theoretical study of gas-phase acid-base equilibria. Tartu, 1994, 96 p.
- 3. Victor Lobanov. Quantitative structure-property relationships in large descriptor spaces. Tartu, 1995, 135 p.
- 4. **Vahur Mäemets.** The ¹⁷O and ¹H nuclear magnetic resonance study of H₂O in individual solvents and its charged clusters in aqueous solutions of electrolytes. Tartu, 1997, 140 p.
- 5. Andrus Metsala. Microcanonical rate constant in nonequilibrium distribution of vibrational energy and in restricted intramolecular vibrational energy redistribution on the basis of slater's theory of unimolecular reactions. Tartu, 1997, 150 p.
- 6. Uko Maran. Quantum-mechanical study of potential energy surfaces in different environments. Tartu, 1997, 137 p.
- 7. Alar Jänes. Adsorption of organic compounds on antimony, bismuth and cadmium electrodes. Tartu, 1998, 219 p.
- 8. **Kaido Tammeveski.** Oxygen electroreduction on thin platinum films and the electrochemical detection of superoxide anion. Tartu, 1998, 139 p.
- 9. **Ivo Leito.** Studies of Brønsted acid-base equilibria in water and non-aqueous media. Tartu, 1998, 101 p.
- 10. Jaan Leis. Conformational dynamics and equilibria in amides. Tartu, 1998, 131 p.
- 11. **Toonika Rinken.** The modelling of amperometric biosensors based on oxidoreductases. Tartu, 2000, 108 p.
- 12. Dmitri Panov. Partially solvated Grignard reagents. Tartu, 2000, 64 p.
- 13. **Kaja Orupõld.** Treatment and analysis of phenolic wastewater with microorganisms. Tartu, 2000, 123 p.
- 14. Jüri Ivask. Ion Chromatographic determination of major anions and cations in polar ice core. Tartu, 2000, 85 p.
- 15. Lauri Vares. Stereoselective Synthesis of Tetrahydrofuran and Tetrahydropyran Derivatives by Use of Asymmetric Horner-Wadsworth-Emmons and Ring Closure Reactions. Tartu, 2000, 184 p.
- 16. **Martin Lepiku.** Kinetic aspects of dopamine D₂ receptor interactions with specific ligands. Tartu, 2000, 81 p.
- 17. **Katrin Sak.** Some aspects of ligand specificity of P2Y receptors. Tartu, 2000, 106 p.
- 18. **Vello Pällin.** The role of solvation in the formation of iotsitch complexes. Tartu, 2001, 95 p.

- 19. Katrin Kollist. Interactions between polycyclic aromatic compounds and humic substances. Tartu, 2001, 93 p.
- 20. **Ivar Koppel.** Quantum chemical study of acidity of strong and superstrong Brønsted acids. Tartu, 2001, 104 p.
- 21. Viljar Pihl. The study of the substituent and solvent effects on the acidity of OH and CH acids. Tartu, 2001, 132 p.
- 22. **Natalia Palm.** Specification of the minimum, sufficient and significant set of descriptors for general description of solvent effects. Tartu, 2001, 134 p.
- 23. **Sulev Sild.** QSPR/QSAR approaches for complex molecular systems. Tartu, 2001, 134 p.
- 24. **Ruslan Petrukhin.** Industrial applications of the quantitative structureproperty relationships. Tartu, 2001, 162 p.
- 25. **Boris V. Rogovoy.** Synthesis of (benzotriazolyl)carboximidamides and their application in relations with *N* and *S*-nucleophyles. Tartu, 2002, 84 p.
- 26. Koit Herodes. Solvent effects on UV-vis absorption spectra of some solvatochromic substances in binary solvent mixtures: the preferential solvation model. Tartu, 2002, 102 p.
- 27. **Anti Perkson.** Synthesis and characterisation of nanostructured carbon. Tartu, 2002, 152 p.
- 28. **Ivari Kaljurand.** Self-consistent acidity scales of neutral and cationic Brønsted acids in acetonitrile and tetrahydrofuran. Tartu, 2003, 108 p.
- 29. **Karmen Lust.** Adsorption of anions on bismuth single crystal electrodes. Tartu, 2003, 128 p.
- 30. **Mare Piirsalu.** Substituent, temperature and solvent effects on the alkaline hydrolysis of substituted phenyl and alkyl esters of benzoic acid. Tartu, 2003, 156 p.
- 31. Meeri Sassian. Reactions of partially solvated Grignard reagents. Tartu, 2003, 78 p.
- 32. **Tarmo Tamm.** Quantum chemical modelling of polypyrrole. Tartu, 2003. 100 p.
- 33. Erik Teinemaa. The environmental fate of the particulate matter and organic pollutants from an oil shale power plant. Tartu, 2003. 102 p.
- 34. Jaana Tammiku-Taul. Quantum chemical study of the properties of Grignard reagents. Tartu, 2003. 120 p.
- 35. Andre Lomaka. Biomedical applications of predictive computational chemistry. Tartu, 2003. 132 p.
- 36. Kostyantyn Kirichenko. Benzotriazole Mediated Carbon–Carbon Bond Formation. Tartu, 2003. 132 p.
- 37. **Gunnar Nurk.** Adsorption kinetics of some organic compounds on bismuth single crystal electrodes. Tartu, 2003, 170 p.
- 38. **Mati Arulepp.** Electrochemical characteristics of porous carbon materials and electrical double layer capacitors. Tartu, 2003, 196 p.

- 39. **Dan Cornel Fara.** QSPR modeling of complexation and distribution of organic compounds. Tartu, 2004, 126 p.
- 40. **Riina Mahlapuu.** Signalling of galanin and amyloid precursor protein through adenylate cyclase. Tartu, 2004, 124 p.
- 41. **Mihkel Kerikmäe.** Some luminescent materials for dosimetric applications and physical research. Tartu, 2004, 143 p.
- 42. Jaanus Kruusma. Determination of some important trace metal ions in human blood. Tartu, 2004, 115 p.
- 43. Urmas Johanson. Investigations of the electrochemical properties of polypyrrole modified electrodes. Tartu, 2004, 91 p.
- 44. **Kaido Sillar.** Computational study of the acid sites in zeolite ZSM-5. Tartu, 2004, 80 p.
- 45. Aldo Oras. Kinetic aspects of dATP α S interaction with P2Y₁ receptor. Tartu, 2004, 75 p.
- 46. Erik Mölder. Measurement of the oxygen mass transfer through the airwater interface. Tartu, 2005, 73 p.
- 47. **Thomas Thomberg.** The kinetics of electroreduction of peroxodisulfate anion on cadmium (0001) single crystal electrode. Tartu, 2005, 95 p.
- 48. **Olavi Loog.** Aspects of condensations of carbonyl compounds and their imine analogues. Tartu, 2005, 83 p.
- 49. **Siim Salmar.** Effect of ultrasound on ester hydrolysis in aqueous ethanol. Tartu, 2006, 73 p.
- 50. Ain Uustare. Modulation of signal transduction of heptahelical receptors by other receptors and G proteins. Tartu, 2006, 121 p.
- 51. Sergei Yurchenko. Determination of some carcinogenic contaminants in food. Tartu, 2006, 143 p.
- 52. **Kaido Tämm.** QSPR modeling of some properties of organic compounds. Tartu, 2006, 67 p.
- 53. **Olga Tšubrik.** New methods in the synthesis of multisubstituted hydrazines. Tartu. 2006, 183 p.
- 54. Lilli Sooväli. Spectrophotometric measurements and their uncertainty in chemical analysis and dissociation constant measurements. Tartu, 2006, 125 p.
- 55. Eve Koort. Uncertainty estimation of potentiometrically measured ph and pK_a values. Tartu, 2006, 139 p.
- 56. **Sergei Kopanchuk.** Regulation of ligand binding to melanocortin receptor subtypes. Tartu, 2006, 119 p.
- 57. Silvar Kallip. Surface structure of some bismuth and antimony single crystal electrodes. Tartu, 2006, 107 p.
- 58. **Kristjan Saal.** Surface silanization and its application in biomolecule coupling. Tartu, 2006, 77 p.
- 59. **Tanel Tätte.** High viscosity Sn(OBu)₄ oligomeric concentrates and their applications in technology. Tartu, 2006, 91 p.

- 60. **Dimitar Atanasov Dobchev**. Robust QSAR methods for the prediction of properties from molecular structure. Tartu, 2006, 118 p.
- 61. Hannes Hagu. Impact of ultrasound on hydrophobic interactions in solutions. Tartu, 2007, 81 p.
- 62. **Rutha Jäger.** Electroreduction of peroxodisulfate anion on bismuth electrodes. Tartu, 2007, 142 p.
- 63. **Kaido Viht.** Immobilizable bisubstrate-analogue inhibitors of basophilic protein kinases: development and application in biosensors. Tartu, 2007, 88 p.
- 64. **Eva-Ingrid Rõõm.** Acid-base equilibria in nonpolar media. Tartu, 2007, 156 p.
- 65. **Sven Tamp.** DFT study of the cesium cation containing complexes relevant to the cesium cation binding by the humic acids. Tartu, 2007, 102 p.
- 66. **Jaak Nerut.** Electroreduction of hexacyanoferrate(III) anion on Cadmium (0001) single crystal electrode. Tartu, 2007, 180 p.
- 67. Lauri Jalukse. Measurement uncertainty estimation in amperometric dissolved oxygen concentration measurement. Tartu, 2007, 112 p.
- 68. Aime Lust. Charge state of dopants and ordered clusters formation in CaF₂:Mn and CaF₂:Eu luminophors. Tartu, 2007, 100 p.
- 69. **Iiris Kahn**. Quantitative Structure-Activity Relationships of environmentally relevant properties. Tartu, 2007, 98 p.
- 70. **Mari Reinik.** Nitrates, nitrites, N-nitrosamines and polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in food: analytical methods, occurrence and dietary intake. Tartu, 2007, 172 p.
- 71. **Heili Kasuk.** Thermodynamic parameters and adsorption kinetics of organic compounds forming the compact adsorption layer at Bi single crystal electrodes. Tartu, 2007, 212 p.
- 72. Erki Enkvist. Synthesis of adenosine-peptide conjugates for biological applications. Tartu, 2007, 114 p.
- 73. **Svetoslav Hristov Slavov**. Biomedical applications of the QSAR approach. Tartu, 2007, 146 p.
- 74. **Eneli Härk.** Electroreduction of complex cations on electrochemically polished Bi(*hkl*) single crystal electrodes. Tartu, 2008, 158 p.
- 75. **Priit Möller.** Electrochemical characteristics of some cathodes for medium temperature solid oxide fuel cells, synthesized by solid state reaction technique. Tartu, 2008, 90 p.
- 76. **Signe Viggor.** Impact of biochemical parameters of genetically different pseudomonads at the degradation of phenolic compounds. Tartu, 2008, 122 p.
- 77. **Ave Sarapuu.** Electrochemical reduction of oxygen on quinone-modified carbon electrodes and on thin films of platinum and gold. Tartu, 2008, 134 p.
- 78. **Agnes Kütt.** Studies of acid-base equilibria in non-aqueous media. Tartu, 2008, 198 p.

- 79. **Rouvim Kadis.** Evaluation of measurement uncertainty in analytical chemistry: related concepts and some points of misinterpretation. Tartu, 2008, 118 p.
- 80. Valter Reedo. Elaboration of IVB group metal oxide structures and their possible applications. Tartu, 2008, 98 p.
- 81. Aleksei Kuznetsov. Allosteric effects in reactions catalyzed by the cAMPdependent protein kinase catalytic subunit. Tartu, 2009, 133 p.
- 82. Aleksei Bredihhin. Use of mono- and polyanions in the synthesis of multisubstituted hydrazine derivatives. Tartu, 2009, 105 p.
- 83. Anu Ploom. Quantitative structure-reactivity analysis in organosilicon chemistry. Tartu, 2009, 99 p.
- Argo Vonk. Determination of adenosine A_{2A}- and dopamine D₁ receptorspecific modulation of adenylate cyclase activity in rat striatum. Tartu, 2009, 129 p.
- 85. **Indrek Kivi.** Synthesis and electrochemical characterization of porous cathode materials for intermediate temperature solid oxide fuel cells. Tartu, 2009, 177 p.
- 86. **Jaanus Eskusson.** Synthesis and characterisation of diamond-like carbon thin films prepared by pulsed laser deposition method. Tartu, 2009, 117 p.
- 87. **Margo Lätt.** Carbide derived microporous carbon and electrical double layer capacitors. Tartu, 2009, 107 p.
- 88. Vladimir Stepanov. Slow conformational changes in dopamine transporter interaction with its ligands. Tartu, 2009, 103 p.
- 89. Aleksander Trummal. Computational Study of Structural and Solvent Effects on Acidities of Some Brønsted Acids. Tartu, 2009, 103 p.
- 90. **Eerold Vellemäe.** Applications of mischmetal in organic synthesis. Tartu, 2009, 93 p.
- 91. Sven Parkel. Ligand binding to $5-HT_{1A}$ receptors and its regulation by Mg^{2+} and Mn^{2+} . Tartu, 2010, 99 p.
- 92. **Signe Vahur.** Expanding the possibilities of ATR-FT-IR spectroscopy in determination of inorganic pigments. Tartu, 2010, 184 p.
- 93. **Tavo Romann**. Preparation and surface modification of bismuth thin film, porous, and microelectrodes. Tartu, 2010, 155 p.
- 94. **Nadežda Aleksejeva.** Electrocatalytic reduction of oxygen on carbon nanotube-based nanocomposite materials. Tartu, 2010, 147 p.
- 95. **Marko Kullapere.** Electrochemical properties of glassy carbon, nickel and gold electrodes modified with aryl groups. Tartu, 2010, 233 p.
- 96. Liis Siinor. Adsorption kinetics of ions at Bi single crystal planes from aqueous electrolyte solutions and room-temperature ionic liquids. Tartu, 2010, 101 p.
- 97. **Angela Vaasa.** Development of fluorescence-based kinetic and binding assays for characterization of protein kinases and their inhibitors. Tartu 2010, 101 p.

- 98. **Indrek Tulp.** Multivariate analysis of chemical and biological properties. Tartu 2010, 105 p.
- 99. Aare Selberg. Evaluation of environmental quality in Northern Estonia by the analysis of leachate. Tartu 2010, 117 p.
- 100. **Darja Lavõgina.** Development of protein kinase inhibitors based on adenosine analogue-oligoarginine conjugates. Tartu 2010, 248 p.
- 101. Laura Herm. Biochemistry of dopamine D_2 receptors and its association with motivated behaviour. Tartu 2010, 156 p.
- 102. **Terje Raudsepp.** Influence of dopant anions on the electrochemical properties of polypyrrole films. Tartu 2010, 112 p.
- 103. Margus Marandi. Electroformation of Polypyrrole Films: *In-situ* AFM and STM Study. Tartu 2011, 116 p.
- 104. Kairi Kivirand. Diamine oxidase-based biosensors: construction and working principles. Tartu, 2011, 140 p.
- 105. Anneli Kruve. Matrix effects in liquid-chromatography electrospray massspectrometry. Tartu, 2011, 156 p.
- 106. **Gary Urb.** Assessment of environmental impact of oil shale fly ash from PF and CFB combustion. Tartu, 2011, 108 p.
- 107. Nikita Oskolkov. A novel strategy for peptide-mediated cellular delivery and induction of endosomal escape. Tartu, 2011, 106 p.